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Board of Directors report 
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the (QHUJ\�'HYHORSPHQW�2PDQ��³('2´��Financial Statements 
 
The members of EDO Board hereby declare that, to the best of their knowledge, the financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2021, which have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
6WDQGDUGV��³,)56´� present fairly, in all material respects, the Financial Position of EDO as at 31 December 2021 
and the related statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended and explanatory notes. 

The Board of Directors of EDO have approved the information contained in the financial statements of EDO. 
 
On behalf of the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

  

Mazin Al Lamki Sultan Al Mamari 
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 
Energy Development Oman  Energy Development Oman  
15 March 2022 15 March 2022 
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Energy Development Oman SAOC  
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
For the year ended 
 
 

 
 
 
The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these financial statements  
 

  31 Dec 2021  31 Dec 2020 
 Note US$ 000 US$ 000 
    
Revenue   11,532,298 10,161,823  
Other operating income 5.1 45,192 26,657  
Finance income 5.4 7,812  22,196  
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Total revenues and other income  11,585,302  10,210,676 
    
Production expenses 7 (895,198)   (954,615) 
Royalty expenses 8 (3,080,869) - 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 6 (3,217,626) (3,019,853) 
Other operating expenses 5.2 (46,385)  (17,632) 
Selling, distribution and general management expenses 9  (73,556)   (207,805) 
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Profit before interest and tax  4,271,668 6,010,771 
Finance costs 5.3 (211,896) (128,823) 
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Profit before tax  4,059,772 5,881,948 
    
Income tax expenses    
   - 
Income tax expenses 31 (1,418,893)   - 
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Profit for the year   2,640,879 5,881,948 
    
Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods 

 
  

Re-measurement of pension fund obligation 26 (155,404) 207,177 
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Total comprehensive income for the year  2,485,475 6,089,125 
  őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 
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Energy Development Oman SAOC  
Statement of financial position 
As at  

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 March 2022 and are signed on 
their behalf by: 

The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these financial statements.

  

Mazin Al Lamki Sultan Al Mamari 
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 
Energy Development Oman SAOC Energy Development Oman SAOC 
15 March 2022 15 March 2022 

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 Note US$ 000 US$ 000 
Non-current assets    
Property, plant, and equipment 11a 23,358,520     22,812,103 
Right-of-use assets 11b  1,090,820   1,136,225  
Net retirement benefit assets 26  371,332   328,756  
Receivables and prepayments 16  21,517   21,001  
Housing loans 14 10,678   18,553  
Other non-current assets  5,289   9,512  
  ─────── ─────── 
Total of non-current assets  24,858,156  24,326,150  
  ─────── ─────── 
Assets held for sale 28 724,859 462,532 
  ─────── ─────── 
Current assets    
Inventories 16 484,654  333,276  
National objective investment 24  26,994   5  
Receivables and prepayments 17  139,102   843,777  
Due from related parties 21  1,584,388   1,072,740  
Housing loans 14  2,116   114,513  
Cash and bank balances 12  340,780   1,268  
  ─────── ─────── 
Total of current assets  2,578,034  2,365,579  
  ─────── ─────── 
Total assets  28,161,049  27,154,261  
  ═══════ ═══════ 
Equity    
Share capital 13  1,300  - 
Retained earnings  18,757,909  22,070,603  
  ─────── ─────── 
Total equity  18,759,209  22,070,603  
  ─────── ─────── 
Non-current liabilities    
Provision for staff end-of-service and other retirement 
benefits  16,463   21,133  
Lease liabilities 23  916,193   958,545  
Abandonment provision 25 2,808,406  2,198,671  
Deferred tax liabilities 31 475,328 - 
Term loan 20  2,468,454 - 
  ─────── ─────── 
Total of non-current liabilities  6,684,844  3,178,349  
  ─────── ─────── 
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 28 724,859 491,348 
  ─────── ─────── 
Current liabilities    
Payables and accruals  19 1,537,909   1,044,510  
Tax payables  82,081 - 
Due to related parties  21 95,816  126,466  
Lease liabilities 23  247,526   238,448  
National objective liability 24  28,805   4,537  
  ─────── ─────── 
Total of current liabilities  1,992,137  1,413,961  
  ─────── ─────── 
Total liabilities  9,401,840  5,083,658  
  ═══════ ═══════ 
Total equity and liabilities  28,161,049  27,154,261  
  ═══════ ═══════ 

27 
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Energy Development Oman SAOC  
Statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 31 December 
 

  Invested 
capital/ 

Share 
capital 

Retained 
earnings 

Total  
equity 

 Note  US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 
      
Balance at 1 January 2021   22,070,603  - - 22,070,603 
      
Net distribution to Government transferred to  
retained earnings 

18 (1,477,493) - - (1,477,493) 

Distribution under PXF arrangement   (152,190)  - - (152,190)  
Adjustments to give effect to Royal Decree and 
Fiscal Protocol  

1.2 (1,725,345)  - - (1,725,345) 

Transferred to Retained earnings as on the date of 
Royal Decree  

 (18,715,575) - 18,715,575 - 

Profit for the year  - - 2,640,879 2,640,879 
Other comprehensive income - Re-measurement of 
pension fund obligation 

26 -  (155,404) (155,404) 

 
 

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 

Total comprehensive income  - - 21,201,050 21,201,050 
Issue of share capital  13 - 1,300  - 1,300  
Dividend paid  21 - - (2,410,668) (2,410,668) 
Distribution of assets in specie from the date of 
application of Fiscal Protocol  

 - - (32,473)  (32,473) 

  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2021  - 1,300  18,757,909 18,759,209 
  őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 
      
Balance at 1 January 2020   - -  21,470,737   21,470,737  
Profit for the year   - - 5,881,948  5,881,948  
Other comprehensive income - Re-measurement of 
 pension fund obligation  

26 - - 207,177  207,177  

  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Total comprehensive income   - - 27,559,862 27,559,862 
Net distribution to Government as return on 
retained 
earnings  

18 - - (4,794,591)  (4,794,591) 

Depreciation on MNE assets 11a - - 846 846 
Distribution under PXF arrangement   - - (695,514)  (695,514)  
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2020  - - 22,070,603 22,070,603 
  őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 

   
 
The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these financial statements
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Energy Development Oman SAOC  
Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 

       Note 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
  US$ 000 US$ 000 

Operating activities:    
Profit before tax  4,059,772 5,881,948 
Adjustments for:    
Pension scheme costs 26 61,094 95,326  
Depreciation, depletion, and amortisation 6   3,133,251   2,933,649 
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 6  84,375   86,204  
Assets written-off during the year 11a, 5.2   29,391 17,632  
Gain on changes in abandonment estimates 11a, 25  (10,361)  -    
Gain on disposals of property, plant, and equipment 5.1  (12,000)  (7,217) 
Finance income 5.4 (7,812) (21,517) 
Finance cost  5.3 211,896   128,823  
Contribution towards Omani staff pension scheme 26 (143,324) (132,406) 
Net movement in National objective investments   (26,989) 12,377  
Net movement in Employee's end of service and other 
retirement benefits  

 
(4,670) 17,270  

  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
  7,374,623 9,012,089 
Working capital changes:    
Changes in inventories  (183,851)  (29,194) 
Changes in receivables and prepayments   (149,008) (771,452)  
Changes in amounts due from related parties   (1,594,705) (78,906) 
Changes in payables and accruals  365,731 (104,294) 
Changes in amounts due to related parties   21,739  3,569  
Changes in National objective liability   24,268  (27,585) 
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
  5,858,797 8,004,227 
Income tax paid  (977,254) - 
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Net cash from operating activities  4,881,543 8,004,227 
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Investing activities:    
Acquisition of property, plant, and equipment   (3,063,678)    (3,005,325) 
Expenditure on exploration and evaluation assets 11a (169,025) (138,351) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant, and equipment 5.1  12,000   7,217  
Assets held for sale  (262,327) (282,560) 
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale   233,511   290,784  
Net movement in housing loans and other non-current assets   124,495  126,954  
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Net cash used in investing activities  (3,125,024) (3,001,281) 
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Financing activities:    
Loan received 20 2,468,454  - 
Payment of advances 22 - (137,723)  
Share capital raised during the year    1,300  - 
Dividend paid 21 (2,283,000) - 
Net distribution to the Government 18 (1,477,493) (4,794,591) 
Finance cost  (25,148)  
Finance income 5.4  7,812  21,517 
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities  (65,924)  (58,591) 
Interest paid on lease liabilities 5.3, 23  (43,008)  (38,021) 
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Net cash used in financing activities  (1,417,007) (5,007,409)  
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Increase in cash and bank balances  339,512  (4,463) 
Cash and bank balances at beginning of the year 12 1,268  5,731 
  ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Cash and bank balances at end of year 12 340,780  1,268 
  őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 

 
For details of non-cash transactions refer note 11a and 23 
 
The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these financial statements.
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1. Background and Basis of preparation 

1.1 Background 

Formation of EDO 

(QHUJ\�'HYHORSPHQW�2PDQ�6$2&� �³('2´�RU� WKH� ³&RPSDQ\´��ZDV� HVWDEOLVKHG� RQ���'HFHPEHU� ����� LQ� WKH�
Sultanate of Oman. EDO was registered on 24 December 2020 through Royal Decree as a 100% owned subsidiary 
of the *RYHUQPHQW� RI� WKH� 6XOWDQDWH� RI� 2PDQ� �WKH� ³*RYHUQPHQW´�. EDO has taken over the participating 
rights/interest of the Oil and Gas Operations of Block 6 from the 0LQLVWU\�RI�(QHUJ\�DQG�0LQHUDOV��WKH�³0R(0´�. 
%ORFN� �� LV� WKH� 6XOWDQDWH¶V� ODUJHVW� DQG� VLJQLILFDQW� RLO� DQG� JDV� RSHUDWLRQ� DQG� FRYHUV� D� JHRJUDSKLF� DUHD� RI�
approximately 90,000 square km., which includes a substantial part of the Oman Mountain Fold belt and Rub al 
Khali basins, including the Ghaba and Fahud salt basins. 

7KH�0R(0¶V�����LQWHUHVW�LQ�3HWUROHXP�'HYHORSPHQW�2PDQ�//&��³3'2´���D�OLPLWHG�OLDELOLW\�FRPSDQ\�UHJLVWHUHG�
in the Sultanate of Oman in accordance with the Commercial Companies Law, as amended, and 100% interest in 
Gas Operations were transferred to EDO on 24 February 2021 and 6 May 2021, respectively (also referred to as 
WKH�³5R\DO�'HFUHH´�. Gas Operations are managed by PDO.  

PDO being responsible for the following activities:  
 

i. undertaking all projects, operations, and activities directly or indirectly related to the exploration, 
development, extraction, transportation, storage, and delivery of crude oil in accordance with the terms of 
DQ�³2LO�&RQFHVVLRQ�$JUHHPHQW´��VHH�EHORZ��IRU�%ORFN����WKH�³2LO�2SHUDWLRQV´���DQG� 
 

ii. undertaking all projects, operations, and activities directly or indirectly related to the exploration, 
GHYHORSPHQW��H[WUDFWLRQ��DQG�WUDQVSRUWDWLRQ�RI�1$*�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�WHUPV�RI�³*DV�$JUHHPHQWV´�
(see below) EHWZHHQ�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�DQG�3'2��WKH�³*DV�2SHUDWLRQV´�� 

8QGHU�WKH�)LVFDO�3URWRFRO��ZKLFK�DSSOLHV�WR�('2¶V�VKDUH�RI�FUXGH�RLO��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�DSSOLFDELOLW\�RI�UR\DOWLHV�DQG�
taxes under the pre-existing Block 6 Oil Concession agreement, various additional agreements have been entered 
LQWR�EHWZHHQ�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�DQG�('2��7KH�DJUHHPHQWV�GHILQH�WKH�ILVFDO�WHUPV�DSSOLFDEOH�WR�('2¶V�UHYHQXH�
from the Block 6 Operations. The key agreements entered between the Government and EDO are as follows:  
x the Block 6 Gas Concession Agreement which applies to NAG and condensate, including its related taxes 
x the Oman Export Blend sale and purchase agreement; and 
x the Natural gas sales agreement 

Oil Concession Agreement  

The Government and 3ULYDWH� 2LO� +ROGLQJV� 2PDQ� /LPLWHG� �³32+2/´�� had entered into an Oil Concession 
Agreement for Block 6 effective 1 January 2005 and expiring on 31 December 2044. Under this agreement, PDO 
operated as a cost centre, wherein all costs related to the Block 6 oil operations were incurred. PDO had no 
entitlHPHQW�WR�SURFHHGV�IURP�FUXGH�RLO��7KH�SURSHUW\��SODQW�DQG�HTXLSPHQW��³33(´��UHODWLQJ�WR�WKH�2LO�2SHUDWLRQV�
were recognised in the books of PDO. The investment in PPE, operational costs and other costs were funded 60% 
by the Government and 40% by POHOL as sKDUHKROGHUV¶�FRQWULEXWLRQV��7KH�2LO�&RQFHVVLRQ�$JUHHPHQW�LQFOXGHV�
the right to use associated gas, which was internally consumed by PDO as part of the production process relating 
to the Oil Operations.  

The Government has novated the Oil Concession Agreement in favour of EDO effective 24 February 2021. 

Gas Agreements and Gas Concession Agreements 

In the capacity of the manager of the Gas Operations, PDO undertook all projects, operations, and activities 
directly or indirectly related to the exploration, development, extraction, and transportation of NAG in accordance 
with the directions of the Government. PDO had no entitlement to the proceeds from the sale of NAG. The gas 
sales agreements were entered into by the MoEM with the end customers. PDO had no ownership of the PPE 
relating to the Gas Operations. The investment in PPE, operational costs and other costs were fully funded by the 
Government. 

The Government has granted EDO the rights to explore, search and drill for, produce, develop and sell NAG and 
Condensate in the Gas Concession Area in accordance with the terms of this Gas Concession Agreement effective 
6 May 2021 and expiring on 31 December 2044. By virtue of this Gas Concession Agreement, EDO has exclusive 
ownership of all NAG at the point of gas production, exclusive ownership of condensate, and exclusive ownership 
of all gas assets, in accordance with the terms of this Gas Concession Agreement.
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1. Background and Basis of preparation (continued) 

1.1 Background (continued) 

Formation of EDO (continued) 
 

Oman Export Blend Sale and Purchase Agreement 

EDO has entered into an DJUHHPHQW�ZLWK�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�IRU�WKH�VDOH�RI�µ2PDQ�([SRUW�%OHQG¶�FUXGH�RLO��2(%���
Under the terms of this agreement, EDO shall sell its share of crude oil and condensate production to the MoEM 
RU�GHVLJQDWHG�0R(0�FXVWRPHUV�DW�WKH�0LQD�$O�)DKDO��³0$)´��WHUPinal or at the designated delivery point. The 
MoEM maintains all the contracts with the end customers. The sale price for OEB is set out in the relevant oil 
VDOHV�DJUHHPHQW�EHWZHHQ�WKH�0R(0�DQG�WKH�0R(0¶V�FXVWRPHUV��('2�ZLOO�GHOLYHU�WKH�2(%�WR�WKH�UHOHYDQW MoEM 
FXVWRPHU�DW�WKH�YHVVHO¶V�SHUPDQHQW�PDQLIROG�IODQJH�FRQQHFWLRQ� 

Natural Gas Sales Agreement  

EDO has entered into an agreement with the Government to sell its entire NAG production to the Government at 
agreed fixed prices for the first 5 years of the agreement as determined in the agreement effective 6 May 2021. 
Post the first 5 years, annual prices shall be determined for each subsequent 5 year period according to a blended 
transfer price calculation methodology, as defined in the agreement. 

The Block 6 Operations 

7KH�2LO�DQG�*DV�2SHUDWLRQV�RI�%ORFN����WKH�³%ORFN���2SHUDWLRQV´��ZHUH�FRQGXFWHG�E\�WKH�0R(0��WKH�0LQLVWU\�
RI�)LQDQFH��WKH�³02)´��DQG�PDO. PDO was a joint operation between the MoEM (60%) and Private Oil Holdings 
2PDQ�/LPLWHG��³32+2/´��������� 
 
The Block 6 Operations did not have a separate legal entity or group of entities. The Government and the MoEM 
believed that the Oil & Gas Operations of Block 6 meets the definition of a reporting entity under the International 
Financial Reporting StandarGV� �³,)56´�� DV� LVVXHG� E\� WKH� ,QWHUQDWLRQDO�$FFRXQWLQJ� 6WDQGDUGV�%RDUG� �,$6%���
considering the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework) issued in March 
2018 by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations CommitteH� �³,)5,&´���The Block 6 Operations 
represented a circumscribed area of economic activities whose financial information has the potential to be useful 
to existing and prospective investors, lenders and other creditors.  

The following were included as part of the combined and carve-out financial statements of the Block 6 Operations, 
which circumscribes the area of economic activities with a predefined perimeter: 

x 60% participating interest in PDO (joint operation). Proportionately accounting for 60% of assets, 
OLDELOLWLHV��DQG�H[SHQVHV�RI�3'2¶V�FUXGH�RLO�RSHUDWLRQV� 

x 100% of the Gas Operations. All assets, liabilities and expenses relating to the Gas Operations; 
x Revenue associated with the sale of crude oil, condensate and NAG from the MoEM relating to Block 6, 

including allocated operational and administrative costs from the MoEM; and  
x Cash collections and contributions attributable to Block 6 activities from the MOF. 
 
The crude oil volumes produced by PDO were transferred to the oil concession holders, the MoEM, and POHOL 
in proportion to their participating interests (60% to the MoEM and 40% to POHOL).  

The entire NAG and condensate volumes produced were transferred by the Gas Operations to the MoEM. The 
MoEM entered into third-party sales arrangements in respect of its 60% share of the crude oil produced by Block 
�� DQG� ����� RI� FRQGHQVDWH� DQG�1$*� YROXPHV� SURGXFHG� E\�%ORFN� ��� 7KH�0LQLVWU\� RI� )LQDQFH� �WKH� ³02)´��
undertook the cash collections relating to the sale of crude oil, condensate, and NAG for the Block 6 Operations. 
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1. Background and Basis of preparation (continued) 

1.2 Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as 
issued by the IASB. The EDO financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the 
historical cost convention, unless otherwise indicated.  

The EDO financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 are the first set of financial statements of 
EDO after its formation. Although EDO was in existence from 24 December 2021, EDO effectively started 
operations from the date when the Oil concession was novated, i.e., 24 February 2021. Following the acquisition 
of Oil and Gas Operations respectively, the combining entities or businesses continued to be ultimately controlled 
by the Government, and the control was not transitory. 

Acquisition of Operations ± Business Combination Under Common Control �³%&8&&´� 

The transfer of the interest in the Oil Concession Agreement and the grant of the Gas Concession Agreement are 
acquisitions of business under common control. IFRS does not prescribe any specific guidance on BCUCC. 
Management, therefore, has used judgement in developing an accounting policy that provides relevant and reliable 
information in accordance with IAS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and 
applied by analogy the guidance relating to BCUCC as part of Appendix B of IFRS 3 ± Business Combination. 
('2�KDV�RSWHG� WR�UHWURDFWLYHO\�DFFRXQW� IRU� WKH�³%ORFN���2SHUDWLRQV´�IURP���-DQXDU\������ WR�UHIOHFW� WKDW� WKH�
operations were always combined. EDO has elected to adopt book value method to account for acquisition of the 
Oil and Gas operations DW�3'2�DQG�*DV�2SHUDWLRQ¶V�ERRN�YDOXHV� 

('2�KDV�UHSODFHG�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�3DUWLFLSDQW�LQ�WKH�³2LO�&RQFHVVLRQ�$JUHHPHQW´�DQG�³*DV�$JUHHPHQWV´�IRU�
%ORFN����('2¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�VKDOO�LQFOXGH�WKH�IROORZLQJ�� 

x PDO as a joint operation, proportionately accounting for 60% of its assets, liabilities, and expenses of the 
PDO crude oil operations from 24 February 2021; 

x 100% of the Gas Operations from 6 May 2021; and  
x EDO standalone operations with respect to the revenues associated with the sale of crude oil, condensate 

and NAG from the respective Royal Decree dates and the operational costs. 
 

Accordingly, the EDO financial statement for the year ended 31 December 2021 contains the full year operations 
as if the different businesses were always combined. The initial months (1 January 2021 up to 23 February 2021 
for Oil Operations and 1 January 2021 up to 5 May 2021 for Gas Operations) are based on the principles of the 
combined and carve-out financial statements of the Block 6 Operations for the Oil and Gas Operations. All terms 
of the key agreements relevant to EDO are applicable from the effective date of Oil and Gas agreements in the 
financial statements.  

The comparative information of EDO as of and for the year ended 31 December 2020 are presented based on the 
principles of the combined and carve-out financial statements of the Block 6 Operations.  
  



 
 
 

Energy Development Oman SAOC  
Financial statements 

31 December 2021 
 
Notes to the financial statements of the Energy Development Oman SAOC (continued) 
 

12 | P a g e  
 

1. Background and Basis of preparation (continued) 

1.2 Basis of Preparation (continued) 

Adjustments to give effect to Royal Decree and Fiscal Protocol 

On the date of transfer of each of the businesses i.e., 24 February 2021 for Oil Operations and 6 May 2021 for 
Gas Operations, the following adjustments are made in these financial statements: 

x Account receivable  

All receivables as at 23 February 2021 relating to crude oil and as at 5 May 2021 relating to NAG and condensate 
are adjusted against Invested capital for the Block 6 Operations as the receivables are not transferred to EDO on 
acquisition. 

x Finance receivable 

The finance receivables as at 5 May 2021 are adjusted against Invested capital for the Block 6 Operations as the 
receivables are not transferred to EDO on acquisition. 

x Transportation cost payables 

The transportation costs payable as at 5 May 2021 are adjusted against Invested capital for the Block 6 Operations 
as these payables are not transferred to EDO on acquisition. 

x Retained earnings  

Invested capital for Block 6 Operations (Oil Operations as of 24 February 2021; Gas Operations as of 6 May 
������LV�WUDQVIHUUHG�WR�('2�DQG�LV�UHFRUGHG�DV�³5HWDLQHG�(DUQLQJV´�LQ�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQW�RI�('2�� 

x Deferred tax  

Opening deferred tax asset/ liability arising due to the timing difference between accounting base and tax base for 
abandonment asset and abandonment provisions and, the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized 
on the transfer of oil and gas business. Deferred tax liability is not recognized with respect to the timing difference 
between accounting base and tax base on property, plant and equipment as EDO has availed the initial recognition 
exemption under IAS 12 ± Income Taxes. 

The below table implies the impact of transfer of each of the businesses i.e., 24 February 2021 for Oil Operations 
and 6 May 2021 for Gas Operations, for the above adjustments: 

 

 
  

  
 
 

US$ 000 
Adjustments to give effect to Royal Decree and Fiscal Protocol  
Trade receivables (1,499,609) 
Finance receivable (278,125) 
Transportation cost payables 52,389 
Total (1,725,345) 



 
 
 

Energy Development Oman SAOC  
Financial statements 

31 December 2021 
 
Notes to the financial statements of the Energy Development Oman SAOC (continued) 
 

13 | P a g e  
 

1. Background and Basis of preparation (continued) 

1.3 Basis of allocation of certain key financial statement elements 

1.3.1 Key Post-Acquisition adjustments  

Certain assets and liabilities are accounted post the date of transfer of each of the businesses, i.e., 24 February 
2021 for Oil Operations and 06 May 2021 for Gas Operations, based on the following principles as detailed below: 

Statement of financial position 

x Inventory 
Crude oil inventory held at the interior tanks and MAF tanks is recognised as 60% (the participating interest in 
PDO) of the total crude oil inventory of Block 6. The inventory held in MAF tanks is adjusted by the volumes 
over-lifted/under-lifted between EDO aQG�32+2/��EDVHG�RQ�('2¶V�HQWLWOHPHQW�LQ�%ORFN����)XUWKHU��WKH�LQYHQWRU\�
held in MAF tanks is adjusted by the volumes over-lifted/under-OLIWHG�EHWZHHQ�('2�DQG�WKH�0R(0¶V�VKDUH�LQ�
other Blocks.  

x Reserves 

The crude oil reserves as estimated by the management of PDO, are revised to give effect of the impact of royalties 
on the crude oil reserves. Further, the NAG reserves and condensate as estimated by the management of Gas 
Operations, are revised based on the applicability of the Gas concession Agreement, the Natural Gas Sales 
Agreement and to give effect of the impact of royalties on the condensate reserves. 

7KH�GHWHUPLQDWLRQ�RI�('2¶V�UHVHUYHV� UHTXLUHV� VLJQLILFDQW�GHJUHH�RI�HVWLPDWHV�DQG�DVVXPSWLRQV� WR�EH�DSSOLHG��
Management estimates its commercial reserves and resources based on information compiled by appropriately 
qualified persons relating to the geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the 
hydrocarbon body and suitable production techniques and recovery rates on an annual basis.  

The management determines its commercial reserves for year ended 31 December 2021 based on the estimates 
of 31 December 2021 after considering technical additions in 2021. The management estimates for the year ended 
31 December 2020 are determined using estimates of oil and gas in place and subsequent technical additions in 
2020. 
 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  

Revenue and certain expenses are accounted post the date of transfer of each of the businesses i.e., 24 February 
2021 for Oil Operations and 06 May 2021 for Gas Operations, based on the following principles as detailed below: 

x Revenue 

Revenue from sale of crude oil  

EDO has entered into Oman Export Blend Sale and Purchase Agreement with the MoEM and sells its share of 
crude oil production to the MoEM, or designated customers at the price set out in agreements between the MoEM 
DQG�WKH�0R(0¶V�FXVWRPHUV�DQG�DJUHHG�ZLWK�('2��&UXGH�RLO�VROG�E\�('2�IURP����)HEUXDU\������WR��1 December 
2021 is considered as revenue in the financial statements of EDO.  

Revenue from sale of NAG  

The Natural Gas Sales agreement is entered into by EDO with the MoEM on 6 May 2021, whereby EDO sells the 
entire NAG production to the MoEM at fixed annual transfer prices, determined for each 5 year period. NAG sold 
by EDO from 6 May 2021 to 31 December 2021 is considered as revenue in the financial statements of EDO.  

Revenue from sale of condensate  

EDO has entered into Oman Export Blend Sale and Purchase Agreement with the Government to sells its share 
of condensate production to the MoEM or designated customers at the price set out in agreements between the 
0R(0�DQG�WKH�0R(0¶V�FXVWRPHUV��&RQGHQVDWH�sold by EDO from 06 May 2021 31 December 2021 is considered 
as revenue in the financial statements of EDO.  
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1. Background and Basis of preparation (continued) 

1.3 Basis of allocation of certain key financial statement elements (continued) 

1.3.1 Key Post-Acquisition adjustments (continued) 

x Royalty 

EDO pays royalties on a weekly basis WR�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�EDVHG�RQ�('2¶V�monthly revenue from the sale of crude 
oil and condensate calculated by applying the Oman export blend crude oil price (MOG Prices) for the nominated 
month of lifting times the number of barrels of crude oil and condensate taken by EDO at the petroleum delivery 
poLQW�LQ�VXFK�PRQWK�DIWHU�GHGXFWLRQ�RI�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�REOLJDWLRQ�XQGHU�WKH�)RUZDUG�6DOH�$UUDQJHPHQW��5R\DOW\�
percentage is determined based on a progressive MOG Prices for the applicable month of lifting as stipulated in 
the Fiscal Protocol. Royalty expense from 24 February 2021 to 31 December 2021 is accounted for crude oil and 
from 6 May 2021 to 31 December 2021 is accounted for condensate in these financial statements.  

x Income tax 

EDO pays tax, to the Government, on its income derived from its activities pursuant to the Oil and Gas Concession 
Agreements in accordance with the Income Tax Law. Such income tax is an amount equal to fifty-five percent 
(55%) of its income chargeable to tax (taxable income) for such year. Income tax expense from 24 February 2021 
to 31 December 2021 is accounted for crude oil and from 6 May 2021 to 31 December 2021 is accounted for NAG 
& condensate in these financial statements.  

 

2. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities, at the reporting date. Management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The judgments, 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to 
be relevant, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
However, the resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 
estimates and assumptions have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and/or liabilities in the future periods. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future period affected.  
 
(a) Judgments 

In the process of applying the accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from 
those involving estimations, which have the most significant impact on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers  

EDO applied the following judgments that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing of 
revenue from contracts with customers: 

Identifying performance obligations  

At inception of the contract with customers, EDO assesses the performance obligations embedded in the contracts. 
Based on the assessment, EDO has concluded that there is generally only one performance obligation with respect 
to the sale of crude oil, condensate and NAG respectively. There are no other performance obligations or benefits 
derived by the customers from the contracts.  

 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

Energy Development Oman SAOC  
Financial statements 

31 December 2021 
 
Notes to the financial statements of the Energy Development Oman SAOC (continued) 
 

15 | P a g e  
 

2. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

(a) Judgments (continued) 

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

Determining method to estimate variable consideration and assessing the constraint 

The contracts for the sale of goods may include a right of return and/or discounts that give rise to variable 
consideration. In estimating the variable consideration, EDO is required to use either the expected value method 
or the most likely amount method based on which method better predicts the amount of consideration to which it 
will be entitled. Before including any amount of variable consideration in the transaction price, EDO considers 
whether the amount of variable consideration is constrained. EDO determined that the estimates of variable 
consideration are not constrained based on its historical experience, business forecast and the current economic 
conditions. However, considering the historical experience on returns and discounts, which were not significant, 
EDO has not recognised a refund liability and right to recover/return assets. 

Determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligation 

EDO recognise revenue when (or as) EDO satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good to 
customers. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset, which is upon delivery 
of goods. Under the terms of existing contracts, EDO has determined that shipping or transportation services are 
not being provided to the customers, and the only performance obligation is sale of crude oil and petroleum 
products. 

Determining transaction price and allocation 

EDO considers the terms of the contract and its customary business practices to determine the transaction price. 
The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which EDO expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring promised goods to a customer. Since sale of crude oil, condensate and NAG is the only performance 
obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to sale of the product respectively.  

Principal versus agent considerations  

EDO enters into contracts with its customers for supply of crude oil, condensate and NAG. EDO determined that 
it controls the goods before they are transferred to customers, and it has the ability to direct the use of goods or 
obtain benefits from the goods. The following factors indicate that EDO controls the goods before they are being 
transferred to customers. Therefore, EDO determined that it is a principle in all its revenue arrangements.  
x EDO is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified goods. 
x EDO has inventory risk before the specified goods have been transferred to the customers. 
x EDO has discretion in establishing the price for the specified goods. 
 
Consideration of significant financing component in a contract 

Using the practical expedient in IFRS 15, EDO does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the 
effects of a significant financing component if it expects, at contract inception, that the period between the transfer 
of the promised goods to the customer and when the customer pays for that goods will be one year or less. EDO 
concluded that there is no significant financing component for those contracts where the customer elects to pay 
in advance considering the length of time between the customer's payment and the transfer of goods to the 
customer. 
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2. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

(a) Judgements (continued) 

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options ± EDO as lessee 

Management determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered 
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to 
terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. EDO has lease contracts that include extension 
and termination options. Management applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether 
or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an 
economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination option. After the commencement date, 
EDO reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control 
and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of 
significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the leased asset). 

Management included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of rigs, hoists, facilities, well service 
units, vehicles and cargo haulage equipment with a shorter non-cancellable period of 1-2 years. EDO typically 
exercises its option to renew these leases because based on the previous experience and the future intention of the 
management to continue, there is a significant negative effect on production if a replacement asset is not readily 
available. The renewal periods for leases of certain production facilities, for example rigs, hoists, vehicles and 
well service units with longer non-cancellable lease periods (i.e., >5 years) are not included as part of the lease 
term as these are not reasonably certain to be exercised. Management has considered and evaluated the following 
factors before determining not to embrace the extension options beyond the original term: 
x PDQDJHPHQW¶V�ORQJ-term strategy is to re-tender rig contracts and move towards mechanised rigs wherever 

possible. 
x the economic benefit for continuing with the same supplier (same lease) is not proven, hence it is not 

reasonably certain to exercise the extension option, due to the fact that there are competitors in the market 
who are expected to offer competitive prices. which may result in a retendering process.  

x the expected changes in technologies in the ensuing five years. 
x New technologies in the market and strategic studies would reassess the economic feasibility of leases.  

With reference to certain drilling equipment, hub offices, electronic equipment and certain equipment relating to 
rigs and hoists, these contracts are less than 12 months at the transition date and the management is of the 
view that most of the extension options may not be exercised. EDO could replace these assets without 
significant cost or business disruption. Therefore, these have not been included in the lease liabilities.  

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options ± EDO as lessee (continued) 

Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are included as part of the lease term only when they are 
reasonably certain not to be exercised. The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not 
exercised) or EDO becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is 
only revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, 
and that is within the control of the lessee. 

Identification of non-lease components 

In addition to containing a leaVH��('2¶V�VHUYLFHV�DUUDQJHPHQW�LQYROYHV�DGGLWLRQDO�VHUYLFHV��LQFOXGLQJ�SHUVRQQHO�
cost, maintenance, production related activities and other items. These are considered to be non-lease components 
and EDO has decided to separate these from the lease components. Judgement is required to identify these. The 
consideration in the contract is then allocated between the lease and non-lease components on a relative stand-
alone price basis. This requires EDO to estimate stand-alone prices for each lease and non-lease component. 
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2. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

(a) Judgements (continued) 

Accounting for leases and joint operations 

Where EDO participates in a joint operation, determining whether to recognise and whether to measure a lease 
obligation involves judgement and requires identification of which entity has primary responsibility for the lease 
obligations entered into in relaWLRQ� WR� WKH� MRLQW�RSHUDWLRQ¶V�DFWLYLWLHV��:KHUH� WKH� MRLQW�RSHUDWLRQ� �LQFOXGLQJ�DOO�
parties to that arrangement) has the right to control the use of the identified asset and all parties have a legal 
obligation to make payments to the third-party supplier, each joint operation participant would recognise its 
proportionate share of the lease-related balances. This assessment would be based on the terms and conditions of 
each arrangement. EDO does not have any direct primary legal obligation to pay the third-party suppliers for the 
lease payments. Therefore, EDO has recognised only its share of lease liabilities, in addition to its share of right 
of use assets. 

Identifying in-substance fixed rates versus variable lease payments  

The lease payments used to calculate the lease-related balances under IFRS 16 include fixed payments, in- 
substance fixed payments and variable payments based on an index or rate. Variable payments not based on an 
index or rate are excluded from the measurement of lease liabilities and reODWHG�DVVHWV��)RU�VRPH�RI�('2¶V�GULOOLQJ�
rig contracts, in addition to the fixed payments, there are payments that are contractually described as variable 
but are in-substance fixed payments because the contract terms require the payment of a fixed amount that is 
unavoidable. The payments are expressed as a rate paid for each operating day, hour or fraction of an hour and 
can change depending on when and how the asset is being used. Therefore, the management has had to apply 
judgement to identify in-substance fixed payments included in the lease payments used to calculate the lease-
related balances. Other payments identified as variable, not based on an index or rate, are excluded from 
recognition and measurement of the lease related balances. Management has assessed that while there is 
variability in the pricing, there is a minimum rate which is considered to be the lowest rate that it would pay while 
the asset is available for its use, which is the standby or cold-stack rate. The major maintenance and inclement 
weather rates do not represent the minimum as these are only payable when the asset is not available for use. The 
additional full operating rates represent variable lease payments. 

Functional currency 

The functional currency for EDO, is the currency of the primary economic environment in which EDO operates. 
The functional currency of EDO is the US dollar (US$). Determination of functional currency may involve certain 
judgements to identify the primary economic environment in which EDO operates. This includes consideration 
of the currency which influences sales prices, the country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly 
determine the sale price of its goods, and the currency which influences the labour, materials, and other costs of 
providing goods or services differ.  

Management considers US$ to be, the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect of the 
underlying transactions, events and conditions. US$ is the currency in which EDO measures its performance and 
reports its results, as well as the currency in which it receives funds from the MoEM. 

Going concern 

0DQDJHPHQW�KDV�PDGH�DQ�DVVHVVPHQW�RI�('2¶V�DELOLW\�WR�FRQWLQXH�DV�D�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ�DQG�LV�VDWLVILHG�WKDW�('2�
has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is not aware of 
DQ\�PDWHULDO�XQFHUWDLQWLHV�WKDW�PD\�FDVW�VLJQLILFDQW�GRXEW�XSRQ�('2¶V�DELOLW\�WR�FRQWLQXH�DV�D�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ��
Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. 
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2. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

(a) Judgements (continued) 

Joint arrangements 

Judgement is required to determine when EDO has joint control over an arrangement, which requires an 
assessment of the relevant activities and an assessment of whether the decisions in relation to those activities 
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The management has determined that the relevant 
activities for its joint arrangements are those relating to the operating and capital decisions of the arrangement, 
including the approval of the annual capital and operating expenditure work programme and budget for the joint 
arrangement, and the approval of chosen service providers for any major capital expenditure as required by the 
MRLQW�RSHUDWLQJ�DJUHHPHQWV�DSSOLFDEOH�WR�WKH�HQWLW\¶V�MRLQW�DUUDQJHPHQWV�� 

Judgement is also required to classify a joint arrangement. Classifying the arrangement requires the management 
to assess their rights and obligations arising from the arrangement. Specifically, the management considers: 

x The structure of the joint arrangement ± whether it is structured through a separate vehicle 
x  When the arrangement is structured through a separate vehicle, the management also considers the rights 

and obligations arising from: 
x The legal form of the separate vehicle 
x The terms of the contractual arrangement 
x Other facts and circumstances, considered on a case-by-case basis 

This assessment often requires significant judgement. A different conclusion about both joint control and whether 
the arrangement is a joint operation or a joint venture, may materially impact the accounting. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

7KH�DSSOLFDWLRQ�RI�WKH�('2¶V�DFFRXQWLQJ�SROLF\�IRU�H[SORUDWLRQ�DQG�HYDOXDWLRQ�H[SHQGLWXUH�UHTXLUHV�MXGJHPHQW�
to determine whether future economic benefits are likely from future exploitation or sale, or whether activities 
have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. The determination 
of reserves and resources is, in itself, an estimation process that involves varying degrees of uncertainty depending 
on how the resources are classified. These estimates have a direct impact on when EDO defers exploration and 
evaluation expenditure. 

Allocation of expenses 

For purposes of presenting the financial statements, allocations were required to determine certain costs and 
administrative activities performed by the MoEM, attributable to EDO. Management has identified staff costs 
relating to the following functions that are required to be allocated to EDO. These functions include sales and 
marketing, strategy and planning, finance and treasury, legal and compliance and audit. Assessing and identifying 
the relevant functions and associated expenses that are required to be attributed to EDO requires a reasonable 
degree of judgement.  

Assessment of contingencies and claims 

EDO is subject to claims and actions for which no provisions have been recognised. The facts and circumstances 
relating to particular cases are evaluated regularly in determining whether a provision relating to a specific 
litigation should be recognised or revised. Accordingly, significant management judgement relating to provisions 
and contingent liabilities is required, since the outcome of litigation is difficult to predict. 
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2. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

(b) Estimates and assumptions  

The preparation of the financial statements, in conformity with IFRS, requires that the management make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. 
Actual results could differ from these estimates.  

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year, are described below. EDO based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available 
when the financial statements were prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of EDO. Such 
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to 
the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 

Proved hydrocarbon reserve and resource estimates 

7KH�GHWHUPLQDWLRQ�RI�('2¶V�UHVHUYHV� UHTXLUHV� VLJQLILFDQW�GHJUHH�RI�HVWLPDWHV�DQG�DVVXPSWLRQV� WR�EH�DSSOLHG��
Hydrocarbon reserves are estimates of the measure of hydrocarbons that can be economically and legally 
H[WUDFWHG�IURP�('2¶V�RLO�DQG�JDV�SURSHUWLHV�� 

Management estimates the hydrocarbon reserves according to the Code of Practice for Hydrocarbon Resource 
Volume Classification, Estimation and Reporting; CP-186. In relation to proven reserves, EDO complies with 
rules set by the Security and Exchange Commission (SEC) (except for the calculation of NAG prices, which is 
EDVHG� RQ� WKH� PDQDJHPHQW¶V� LQWHUQDO� HVWLPDWH��� 0DQDJHPHQW� FRPSOLHV� ZLWK� WKH� SULQFLSOHV� FRQWDLQHG� LQ� WKH�
Petroleum Resources Management Reporting System (PRMS) framework as issued by the Society of Petroleum 
(QJLQHHUV� �63(���('2¶V� UHVRXUFHV� FODVVLILFDWLRQ� LV� VHW� LQ� FRQMXQFWLRQ�ZLWK� WKH� LQGXVWULDO� VWDQGDUG� SHWUROHXP�
resource classification. 

Management estimates its commercial reserves and resources based on information compiled by appropriately 
qualified persons relating to the geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the 
hydrocarbon body and suitable production techniques and recovery rates. Commercial reserves are determined 
using estimates of oil and gas in place, recovery factors and future commodity prices, the latter having an impact 
on the total amount of recoverable reserves and the proportion of the gross reserves that are attributable to private 
shareholders as per the concession agreements. Future development costs are estimated using assumptions as to 
the number of wells required to produce the commercial reserves, the cost of such wells and associated production 
facilities, and other capital costs. These are regularly reviewed and updated.  

Future commodity price assumptions tend to be stable because management does not consider short-term 
increases or decreases in prices as being indicative of long-term levels, but they are nonetheless subject to change. 
Expected production volumes, which comprise proved reserves, are used for the depreciation calculation of 
production wells and facilities. As discussed above, hydrocarbon reserves estimates are inherently imprecise. For 
2021, the long-term Brent oil price assumption used in the estimation of commercial reserves is US$ 63.5 /bbl. 
(2020: US$ 46.21 /bbl.). For 2021, long-term gas price assumption used in the estimation of commercial reserves 
is US$ 2.51 /btu (2020: US$ 4.5 / btu). 

As the economic assumptions used may change and as additional geological information is obtained during the 
RSHUDWLRQ�RI�D�FOXVWHU��HVWLPDWHV�RI�UHFRYHUDEOH�UHVHUYHV�PD\�FKDQJH��6XFK�FKDQJHV�PD\�LPSDFW�('2¶V�UHSRUWHG�
financial position and results, which include: 
x The carrying value of property, plant and equipment due to changes in estimated future cash flows and 

depreciation.  
x Depreciation, depletion and amortisation charges in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income may change where such charges are determined using the Unit of Production (UOP) method, or where 
the useful life of the related assets change.  

x Provisions for decommissioning (may require revision ² where changes to reserves estimates affect 
expectations about when such activities will occur and the associated cost of these activities.  
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2. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

(b) Estimates and assumptions (continued) 

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (Unit-Of-Production (UOP) method) 

Property, plant and equipment related to hydrocarbon production activities are depreciated on a unit-of-production 
basis over the proved developed oil and gas reserves of the cluster concerned, other than assets  
whose useful lives differ from the lifetime of the cluster which are depreciated applying the straight-line method. 
This results in a depreciation charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining production from 
the cluster. For the purpose of proved developed reserves, management uses the SEC-mandated yearly average 
RLO�SULFHV�DQG�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�HVWLPDWH�RI�WKH�IL[HG�JDV�SULFHV��<HDUO\�DYHUDJH�RLO�SULFHV�DQG�WKH�IL[HG�JDV�SULFHV�
are applied in the determination of proved reserves. Estimates of proved reserves are inherently imprecise, require 
the application of judgement and are subject to regular revision, either upward or downward, based on new 
information including details relating to the drilling of additional wells, the observation of long-term reservoir 
performance under producing conditions and the changes in economic factors, including commodity prices, 
unforeseen operational issues, contract terms, legislation or development plans.  

Changes to estimates of proved developed reserves affect prospectively the amounts of depreciation, depletion 
and amortisation charged and, consequently, the carrying amounts of production assets. The life of each item, 
which is assessed at least annually, has regard to both its physical life limitations and present assessments of 
economically recoverable reserves of the cluster at which the asset is located. The calculation of the UOP rate of 
depreciation will be impacted to the extent that actual production in the future is different from current forecast 
production based on total proved reserves, or future capital expenditure estimates change.  

Development, exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Expenditure on the construction, installation and completion of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, 
pipelines and the drilling of development wells, including services are capitalised within property, plant and 
equipment and is depreciated from the commencement of production. The capitalisation policy requires 
management to make certain estimates and assumptions about future events and circumstances, in particular, 
whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established. Cost incurred on unsuccessful 
development or delineation wells are written-off.  

Significant estimates and assumptions are required to determine whether it is appropriate to continue to carry 
costs associated with exploration wells and exploratory type stratigraphic test wells on the balance sheet. This 
includes costs relating to exploration, seismic evaluation, geological and geophysical or other related costs. It is 
not unusual to have such costs being capitalised on the balance sheet while additional appraisal drilling and 
seismic work on the potential oil and natural gas cluster is performed or while the optimum development plans 
and timing are established. However, these seismic costs are part of the cluster that are producing developed 
petroleum recourses.  

The costs are carried based on the current regulatory and political environment or any known changes to that 
environment. All such carried costs are subject to regular technical, commercial and management review on at 
least an annual basis to confirm the continued intent to develop, or otherwise extract value from, the discovery. 
These costs are incurred on the producing clusters and therefore, management estimates that the technical 
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable. The carrying amount of 
capitalised costs are included as part of property, plant and equipment under producing assets. 

Decommissioning (abandonment provision) 

Liabilities for decommissioning costs are recognised when EDO has an obligation to plug and abandon a well, 
dismantle and remove a facility or an item of plant and to restore the site on which it is located, and when a 
reliable estimate of that liability can be made. Decommissioning costs will be incurred by EDO at the end of the 
RSHUDWLQJ�OLIH�RI�VRPH�RI�('2¶V�IDFLOLWLHV�DQG�SURSHUWLHV��('2�DVVHVVHV�LWV�GHFRPPLVVLRQLQJ�SURYLVLRQ�DW�HDFK�
reporting date. The ultimate decommissioning costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many 
factors, including changes to relevant legal requirements, estimates of the extent and costs of decommissioning 
activities, the emergence of new restoration techniques or experience at other production sites. The discount rate 
has not changed from 2020 to 2021 and remain at 7.15%. (change in discount rate of 0.15% in 2019 from 7.30% 
in 2018) which are based on long-dated Oman government bonds.  
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2. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

(b) Estimates and assumptions (continued) 

Decommissioning (abandonment provision) 

The provision for the costs of decommissioning wells, production facilities and pipelines at the end of their 
economic lives is estimated using existing technology, at future prices, depending on the expected timing of the 
activity, and discounted using the nominal discount rate. Therefore, significant estimates and assumptions are 
made in determining the provision for decommissioning. As a result, there could be significant adjustments to the 
provisions established which would affect future financial results. 

External valuers may be used to assist with the assessment of future decommissioning costs. The involvement of 
external valuers is determined on a case-by-case basis, taking into account factors such as the expected gross cost 
or timing of abandonment. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether 
professional standards are maintained. The provision at the reporting GDWH�UHSUHVHQWV�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�EHVW�HVWLPDWH�
of the present value of the future decommissioning costs required. A +0.5% change in the nominal discount rate 
FRXOG�KDYH�DQ�LPSDFW�RI�DSSUR[LPDWHO\�86�����������µ������������86�������������µ������RQ�WKH�YDOXH�RI�('2¶V�
provisions. A -0.5% change in the nominal discount rate could have an impact of approximately US$ 200,429 
�µ�����������86�����������µ������RQ�WKH�YDOXH�RI�('2¶V�SURYLVLRQV��$�WZR-year change in the timing of expected 
future decommissioning expenditurHV�GRHV�QRW�KDYH�D�PDWHULDO�LPSDFW�RQ�WKH�YDOXH�RI�('2¶V�GHFRPPLVVLRQLQJ�
provision. Management does not consider a change of greater than two years to be reasonably possible either in 
the next financial year or as a result of changes in the longer-term economic environment. 

Provision for expected credit losses of financial assets  

Trade receivables 

For trade receivables, management applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, management 
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead, recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each 
reporting date. EDO have established a default rates that is based on its historical credit loss experience as adjusted 
for forward-looking factors. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross, domestic product, 
movements in crude oil price) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number 
RI�GHIDXOWV�DPRQJVW�('2¶V�FXVWRPHUV�� WKH�KLVWRULFDO�GHIDXOW�UDWHV�DUH�DGMXVWHG��,Q�VRPH�FDVHV��ZLWK�UHVSHFW� WR�
NAG receivables, delays in the payments were identified to be for reasons other than related to credit risk. Hence, 
for such receivables, ECL was continued to be calculated using the same historical default rates. 

At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking 
estimates are analysed. The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast 
economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. EDO' historical credit loss experience and forecast of 
economic conditions may also not be representative of customer's actual default in the future. 

Due from related parties, other receivables and other assets 

For these categories of assets, management applies a general approach in calculating ECLs. ECLs are based on 
the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that 
EDO e[SHFWV� WR� UHFHLYH��7KH�VKRUWIDOO� LV� WKHQ�GLVFRXQWHG�DW�DQ�DSSUR[LPDWLRQ� WR� WKH�DVVHW¶V�RULJLQDO�HIIHFWLYH�
interest rate. ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events 
that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and 
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast 
economic conditions. When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly 
since initial recognition and when estimating ECL, EDO considers reasonable and supportable information that 
is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information 
DQG�DQDO\VLV��EDVHG�RQ�('2¶V�KLVWRULFDO�H[SHULHQFH�and informed credit assessment, that includes forward-looking 
LQIRUPDWLRQ�� ('2¶V� KLVWRULFDO� FUHGLW� ORVV� H[SHULHQFH� DQG� IRUHFDVW� RI� HFRQRPLF� FRQGLWLRQV� PD\� DOVR� QRW� EH�
representative of customer's actual default in the future. 
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2. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

(b) Estimates and assumptions (continued) 

Impairment of inventories 

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an 
estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed 
on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed 
collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, 
based on historical selling prices. The areas requiring significant judgment related to the valuation of inventories 
include estimating the shrinkage that has occurred between physical inventory counts. These judgments and 
estimates, under certain circumstances, produce varying financial results. 

Any difference between the amounts actually realised in future periods and the amounts expected will be 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (Refer Note 16). 

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate  

Management cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in its leases. Therefore, it uses the relevant 
LQFUHPHQWDO�ERUURZLQJ�UDWH��³,%5´��WR�PHDVXUH�OHDVH�OLDELOLWLHV��7KH�,%5�LV�WKH�UDWH�RI�LQWHUHVW�WKDW�('2�ZRXOG�
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a 
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR, therefore, reflects what EDO 
would have to pay, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available and to make adjustments to 
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. Management estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as 
market interest rates) when available and is required to consider certain contract and entity-specific judgements  

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment (excluding production wells and facilities) (straight 
line method)  

Management determines the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for calculating depreciation. 
The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful life, which is based on the 
expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, and the repairs and maintenance program and the 
residual value. Management reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of 
each annual reporting period. Management reviews the residual value at the end of each reporting period and 
changes are adjusted prospectively. For line fill, management believes that the residual value of the line fill is 
greater than the cost. 

Useful lives of right-of-use assets 

Management determines the estimated useful lives of its right-of-use assets for calculating amortisation. The cost 
of right-of-use assets are amortised over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which is based on shorter of the 
lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets. Management reviews the estimated useful lives of right-
of-use assets at the end of each annual reporting period. Any change in the lease term or pattern of consumption 
of these assets are adjusted prospectively. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

Management assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is any indication that an asset or a group of assets is 
impaired. If any such indication exists, Management estimates the recoverable amount of the asset or group of 
DVVHWV��$Q�DVVHW¶V�UHFRYHUDEOH�DPRXQW�LV�WKH�KLJKHU�RI�DQ�DVVHW¶V�RU�FDVK-JHQHUDWLQJ�XQLW¶V�IDLU�YDOXH�OHVV�FRVWV�WR�
sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset if the asset generates cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In 
determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are 
corroborated by valuation multiples like available fair value indicators. 
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2. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

(b) Estimates and assumptions (continued) 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (continued) 

The value in use calculation requires management to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the 
cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. The assessments require the 
use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term oil prices (considering current and historical prices, price 
trends and related factors), discount rates, operating costs, future capital requirements, decommissioning costs, 
exploration potential, reserves and operating performance (which includes production and sales volumes). 
Significant estimates and associated assumptions are involved in determining the cash-generating units, expected 
future cash flows and discount rates. These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty. 
Therefore, there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will impact these projections, which may impact 
the recoverable amount of assets and/or CGUs. 

Pension and other post-employment benefits 

$FFRXQWLQJ� IRU� GHILQHG� EHQHILW� SHQVLRQV� LQYROYHV� PDNLQJ� VLJQLILFDQW� HVWLPDWHV� ZKHQ� PHDVXULQJ� WKH� ('2¶V�
pension plan surpluses and deficits. These estimates require assumptions to be made about many uncertainties. 
Pensions and other post-retirement benefit assumptions are reviewed by management at the end of each year. 
These assumptions are used to determine the projected benefit obligation at the year end and hence the surpluses 
and GHILFLWV� UHFRUGHG� LQ�('2¶V�VWDWHPHQW�RI� ILQDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ��DQG�SHQVLRQ�DQG�RWKHU�SRVW-retirement benefit 
expense for the following year. 

The present value of defined benefit pension plans is determined using actuarial valuations. The present value of 
the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number 
of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate, 
future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Any changes in these assumptions will impact 
the carrying amount of pension obligations. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject 
to significant uncertainty. The assumptions used vary from year to year, with resultant effects on future net income 
and net assets. Changes to some of these assumptions, in particular the discount rate and inflation rate, could 
UHVXOW� LQ� UHDVRQDEOH� FKDQJHV� WR� WKH� FDUU\LQJ� DPRXQWV� RI� ('2¶V� SHQVLRQ� DQG� RWKHU� SRVW-retirement benefit 
obligations within the next financial year. Any differences between these assumptions and the actual outcome 
will also affect future net income and net assets.  

The values ascribed to these assumptions and a sensitivity analysis of the impact of changes in the assumptions 
on the benefit expense and obligation used are provided in Note 25. 

Impairment of non-financial assets other than property, plant and equipment 

Management assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting 
date. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, management 
HVWLPDWHV� WKH�DVVHW¶V� UHFRYHUDEOH�DPRXQW��2WKHU�QRQ-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are 
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When value in use calculations are undertaken, 
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 

Basis of allocation financial statement elements  

The allocation methodologies have been described within the notes to the financial statements where appropriate, 
and management believes that the assumptions and estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements 
are reasonable. Management believes that the allocation methodologies are reasonable; however, financial 
elements allocated to EDO are not necessarily indicative of the results that would have been incurred on a stand-
alone basis nor are they indicative of amounts that may be reported in the future. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates. It is not practical to estimate the financial results that would have been achieved by EDO if it had 
operated on a stand-alone basis. 
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3. Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below, which comply with IFRS, have been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these financial statements, unless stated otherwise. These describe the EDO¶s significant accounting 
policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements, which are relevant for an understanding of the 
financial statements. 

Revenue from contracts with customers  

IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers and requires 
that revenue be recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The 5-step approach for revenue recognition is as 
follows: 
 
x Step 1: Identify contracts with a customer. 
x Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract. 
x Step 3: Determine the transaction price. 
x Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. 
x Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 
 
In addition to revenue, the standard also applies to: 
 
x the cost to fulfil the contract; and 
x the incremental costs of obtaining a contract. 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the 
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the EDO expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services. EDO has concluded that it is the principal in all of its revenue arrangements since it 
controls the goods or services before transferring them to the customer 

Revenue from sale of crude oil, condensate and NAG 

The crude oil produced by the upstream operations is sold to external customers. Revenue from the sale of crude 
oil is recognised at the point in time when control of the product is transferred to the customer, which is generally 
when the product is physically transferred into a vessel, pipe or other delivery mechanism and the customer 
accepts the product and takes physical possession. For export sales of crude oil and condensate, the control passes 
to the customer when the crude oil or condensate passes the flange connection between the delivery hose and the 
cXVWRPHU¶V�UHFHLYLQJ�YHVVHO
V�SHUPDQHQW�PDQLIROG�FRQQHFWLRQ��)RU�GRPHVWLF�VDOHV�RI�FUXGH�RLO�DQG�FRQGHQVDWH��WKH�
FRQWURO�SDVVHV�RQ�WR�WKH�FXVWRPHU�RQFH�WKH�RLO�LV�WUDQVSRUWHG�WKURXJK�WKH�0DLQ�2LO�/LQH��³02/´��IURP�WKH�EDO¶s 
WDQN�IDUP�FRQQHFW�WR�WKH�FXVWRPHU¶V�WDQN�IDUP��L�H���DW�WKH�0LQD�$O�)DKDO��³0$)´��FRQQHFW�SRLQW��)RU�1$*�VDOHV��
the control of the natural gas transfers to the customer at the gas delivery point i.e., the inlet flange of the 
FXVWRPHU¶V�SODQW��&RQVHTXHQWO\, EDO¶s performance obligations are considered to relate only to the sale of crude 
oil, condensate and NAG. 

Under the terms of the relevant concession arrangements, EDO is entitled to its participating share in the crude 
oil based on its participating interest. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised based on the actual 
volumes sold to customers. No adjustments are made to revenue for any differences between volumes sold to 
customers and unsold volumes which EDO is entitled to sell based on its participating interest. Revenue in respect 
of such volumes is only recognised when there is a transfer of output to EDO¶s customers.  

Further, as regards to the pricing mechanism, EDO¶s sales of crude oil and condensate are priced based on market 
prices. The crude oil price is determined based on the daily market prices of the Oman Export Blend Crude Oil 
Future Contract, which is fixed and agreed at the time of delivery of crude oil and condensate. EDO also charges 
a premium for additional barrels nominated by the customers over and above the designated limit of oil barrels. 
The transaction price does not vary significantly under the terms of the contract. At the time of delivery, there is 
only a minimal risk of a change in the transaction price to be allocated to the crude oil volume sold. Accordingly, 
at the point of sale there is not a significant risk of revenue reversal relative to the cumulative revenue recognised, 
and there is no need to constrain any variable consideration under IFRS 15. The NAG price is determined based 
the Natural Gas Sales agreement between EDO and MoEM with effect from 6 May 2021. 

The transportation and shipping cost associated with the transfer of the product to the point of sale is recognised 
as a selling cost. Revenue resulting from arrangements that are not considered contracts with customers is 
presented as other operating income. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

Significant financing component 

Using the practical expedient in IFRS 15, EDO does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the 
effects of a significant financing component if it expects, at contract inception, that the period between the transfer 
of the promised good or service to the customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one 
year or less. EDO does not receive any long terms advances from customers in relation to its revenue 
arrangements. 

Other operating revenue 

Other operating revenue relates to ('2¶s share of compensation for the lower grade of crude oil and condensate 
produced by one of the oil fields that is blended and comingled with the Oman Crude Oil Blend in accordance 
ZLWK�WKH�2PDQ�%OHQG�5HYHQXH�'LVWULEXWLRQ�$JUHHPHQW��³2%5'$´���$V�SHU�2%RDA a compensation is paid by 
the Operator of Mukhaizna Block to other oil producers in the Sultanate. The calculation is performed by a third 
party and the compensation is split based on the production volumes of each respective oil producer. These are 
recognised on a monthly basis when the calculation of the compensation is ascertained and agreed with the parties.  

Finance income 

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income is calculated using the effective interest 
rate (EIR) method. EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected 
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset. Interest income is included as finance income in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. 

Supply of crude oil barrels to the Government 

The Government raised a loan of US$ 4 billion in the form of a Pre-Export Facility (PXF) through Yibal Export 
B.V. The facility was structured as a pre-H[SRUW�ILQDQFLQJ��³3;)´���('2�VKDOO�WUDQVIHU�WR�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�VXFK�
barrels of crude oil as may be required and notified by the Government to perform its obligations under a Forward 
6DOH�$UUDQJHPHQW��µ)6$�%DUUHOV¶��WR�VDWLVfy the requirements under the PXF. These FSA barrels are transferred 
DW�IUHH�RI�FKDUJH�DQG�RQ�D�µILUVW�SULRULW\�EDVLV¶��WKDW�LV��IURP�WKH�ILUVW�EDUUHOV�RI�FUXGH�RLO to reach the Petroleum 
Delivery Point in that month. The Government has the ownership rights of these FSA Barrels and is entitled to 
GLVSRVH�RI�WKHVH�EDUUHOV��('2¶V�REOLJDWLRQV�WR�WUDQVIHU�WKHVH�)6$�%DUUHOV�WR�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�VKDOO�DW�DOO�WLPHV�WDNH�
priority over other obligations. Therefore, FSA barrels are not considered as revenue for EDO.  

Joint arrangements  

Under IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, an arrangement in which two or more parties have joint control is a joint 
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only 
when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 
Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures. The classification 
depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint 
arrangement. 

Joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights 
and obligations of each investor. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint 
control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligation for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.  

Where the EDO acts as a joint operator, EDO recognises its interest in relation to a joint operation. Joint operations 
arise where the investors have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of a joint arrangement. In 
relation to its interests in joint operations, EDO recognises its: 
x Assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 
x Liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 
x Revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; and  
x Expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 
 
PDO is classified as a joint operation by EDO, where the MoEM holds 60% participating interest in the joint 
operation.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Property, plant and equipment (Oil and gas properties ± production wells and facilities) 

Initial recognition 

Production wells and facilities are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost (if the asset was previously 
classified as assets in development), and any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset into operation. The 
purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration 
given to acquire the asset. 

,Q� FHUWDLQ� FDVHV�� H[SHQGLWXUH� LV� WUDQVIHUUHG� IURP� µH[SORUDWLRQ� DQG� HYDOXDWLRQ� DVVHWV¶� WR� µSURGXFWLRQ�ZHOOV� DQG�
IDFLOLWLHV¶�RQFH�WKH�ZRUN�FRPSOHWHG�WR�GDWH�VXSSRUWV�WKH�IXWXUH�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�WKH�DVVHW�DQG�VXFK�GHYHORSPHQW�
receives appropriate approvals. After transfer of the exploration and evaluation assets, all subsequent expenditure 
on the construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and the 
GULOOLQJ�RI�GHYHORSPHQW�ZHOOV�� LV�FDSLWDOLVHG�ZLWKLQ� µSURGXFWLRQ�ZHOOV�DQG� IDFLOLWLHV¶��([SHQGLWXUH� LQFXUUHG�RQ�
H[SORUDWLRQ��VHLVPLF�DQG�RWKHU�JHRORJLFDO�DQG�JHRSK\VLFDO�FRVWV�DUH�FDSLWDOLVHG�DV�SDUW�RI�µSURGXFWLRQ�ZHOOV�DQG�
IDFLOLWLHV¶�DV�WKHVH�DUH�LQFXUUHG�RQ�YDULRXV�FOXVWHUV�WKDW�DUH�SDUW�RI�SURGXFLQJ�DVVHWV��&RVts incurred on exploration 
and drilling of unsuccessful development or delineation wells are written off.  

Expenditure on major maintenance refits, inspections or repairs comprises the cost of replacement assets or parts 
of assets, inspection costs and overhaul costs. Where an asset, or part of an asset that was separately depreciated 
and is now written off, is replaced and it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to EDO, the expenditure is capitalised. Where part of the asset replaced was not separately considered as a 
component and therefore not depreciated separately, the replacement value is used to estimate the carrying amount 
of the replaced asset and is immediately written off. All other day-to-day repairs and maintenance costs are 
expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 

Production wells and facilities are in principle depreciated/amortised over the proved developed reserves of the 
field concerned, other than assets whose useful lives differ from the lifetime of the field which are depreciated 
applying the straight-line method. The unit-of-production rate calculation for the depreciation/amortisation of 
field development costs takes into account expenditures incurred to date. Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves 
determined in accordance with US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) guidelines, including the 
application of oil prices using 12-month historical price data in assessing the commerciality of technical volumes 
DQG�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�HVWLPDWH�RI�WKH�IL[HG�JDV�SULFHV��DUH�W\SLFDOO\�XVHG�WR�FDOFXODWH�GHSUHFLDWLRQ��Gepletion and 
amortisation charges for EDO¶s oil and gas properties. Therefore, where this approach is adopted, charges are not 
dependent on management forecasts of future oil prices. 

Other assets which are part of production wells and facilities are generally depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful lives, which is generally 20 years.  

Derecognition  

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the asset is 
GHUHFRJQLVHG��7KH�DVVHW¶V�UHVLGXDO�YDOXHV��XVHIXO�OLYHV�DQG�PHWKRGV�RI�GHSUHFLDWLRQ�DPRUWLVDWLRQ�DUH�UHYLHZHG�DW�
each reporting period and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Property, plant and equipment (Exploration and evaluation assets) 

Exploration, evaluation and development costs that relate to the acquisition and installation of production 
facilities, development drilling costs and applicable exploration costs that are expected to generate probable future 
HFRQRPLF� EHQHILWV� DUH� FDSLWDOLVHG�� 7KHVH� FRVWV� DUH� LQLWLDOO\� FODVVLILHG� DV� µH[SORUDWLRQ� DQG� HYDOXDWLRQ� DVVHWV¶�
pending determination of successful exploration using the successful efforts method. Under the successful efforts 
method, exploration costs associated with exploratory wells are initially capitalised until the drilling of the well 
is complete and the results have been evaluated. If potential commercial quantities of hydrocarbons are found, 
these costs continue to be capitalised subject to further appraisal activities that would determine the commercial 
viability and technical feasibility of the reserves. If potentially commercial quantities of hydrocarbons have not 
been found, and no alternative use of the well is determined, the previously capitalised costs are written off.  

Exploratory wells remain capitalised while additional appraisal drilling on the potential oil and/or gas field is 
performed or while optimum development plans are established. All such capitalised costs are not subject to 
amortisation, but are subject to technical, commercial and management review, as well as review for indicators 
of impairment at least once a year. This is to confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract value 
from the discovery. When proved reserves of hydrocarbons are determined and there is a firm plan for 
development approved by management, the relevant capitalised costs are transferred to production wells and 
facilities. 

The determination of whether potentially economic oil and natural gas reserves have been discovered by an 
exploration well is usually made within one year of well completion, but can take longer, depending on the 
complexity of the geological structure. Exploration wells that discover potentially economic quantities of oil and 
natural gas and are in areas where major capital expenditure (e.g., a platform or a pipeline) would be required 
before production could begin, and where the economic viability of that major capital expenditure depends on the 
successful completion of further exploration or appraisal work in the area, remain capitalised as long as such work 
is under way or firmly planned. 

All other research and development expenditure are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as incurred. The expenditure incurred on drilling development wells is capitalised and 
written off when found to be dry. 

Property, plant and equipment (Main oil / gas line, line fill and other facilities)  

The main oil and gas pipelines are stated at cost less any depletion or impairment in value. Minimum quantities 
RI�FUXGH�RLO��FRQGHQVDWH�DQG�1$*��µOLQH�ILOO¶���ZKLFK�LV�QHFHVVDU\ to bring a pipeline into working order, is treated 
as a part of the related pipelines and is classified as a part of property, plant and equipment. This is on the basis 
that it is not held for sale or consumed in a production process but is necessary to the operation of a facility during 
more than one operating cycle.  

Property, plant and equipment (Abandonment assets)  

Abandonment and restoration costs associated with provisions for asset retirement are capitalised and depreciated 
as per classified asset categories (either unit-of-production method or based on the useful life of the asset). EDO 
records a provision and a corresponding asset for abandonment/decommissioning activities in upstream 
operations for well plugging, site restorations and other abandonment activities. The abandonment asset and the 
related obligation for a well is recognised when it is drilled. For other assets, these are recognised in the period 
when sufficient information becomes available to estimate a range of potential settlement dates.  

Property, plant and equipment (capital work-in-progress)  

Capital work-in-progress is not depreciated. Capital work-in-progress is recorded at cost, less impairment. 
Allocated costs along with borrowing costs directly attributable to the construction of the asset are capitalised. 
Other capital work-in-progress is recorded at cost which represents the purchase price or cost of service required 
to complete an asset. The capital work-in-progress is transferred to the appropriate asset category and depreciated 
in accordance with EDO¶s policies when construction of the asset is completed and commissioned. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Property, plant and equipment (all other assets)  

Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:  
 
Concession and preliminary expenses Over the period of concession 
Buildings, repair shop, airport and instrumentation 20 to 33 years 
Movables, vehicles, software, computing and communication 5 years 
 

6XEVHTXHQW�FRVWV�DUH�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�DVVHW¶V�FDUU\LQJ�DPRXQW�RU�UHFRJQLsed as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to EDO and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the financial statements during the financial period in which they are incurred. An 
item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the fair value less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the financial statements 
in the year the asset is derecognised. 

The carrying values are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying 
value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated 
recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount, being the higher of their fair value 
less costs to sell and their value in use. 

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for 
separately is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written-off. Other 
subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of 
property, plant and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the financial statements as the expense is 
incurred. 

7KH�DVVHWV¶�UHVLGXDO�YDOXHV��XVHIXO�OLYHV�DQG�PHWKRGV�RI�GHSUHFLDWLRQ�DUH�UHYLHZHG��DQG�DGMXVWHG�SURVSHFWLYHO\��LI�
appropriate at each reporting date. 

Inventories 

Crude oil  

Crude oil inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the first-in-first-
out method. The cost of crude oil includes the purchase cost, the cost of refining, including the proportion of 
depreciation, depletion and amortisation, and overheads based on normal operating capacity. Net realisable value 
is determined by reference to sales prices existing at the reporting date, adjusted where the sale of inventories 
after the reporting period gives evidence about their net realisable value at the end of the period. Crude oil 
inventories include EDO¶s stock entitlement, with adjustment for over lift / under lift stock. 

Consignment stock 

NAG owned by EDO that is stored in pipelines owned by a related party is classified as inventory, under 
consignment stock. Since, these pipelines are not owned by EDO, the related line fill inventories used to operate 
the pipelines are not classified as part of property, plant and equipment. EDO recognise these line fill inventories 
as consignment stock, as they are possessed by a related party. Consignment stock is stated at cost of production. 
These consignment stocks are classified as non-current as they are not expected to be returned within 12 months 
from the reporting date.  

Other inventories 

Material stock, project bulk material stock and well advance stock are materials and supplies to be consumed in 
the production process and are valued at cost on a weighted average basis. Inventories are valued at cost less 
provision for obsolete, slow-moving and defective items. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis 
and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring inventories and bringing them to their existing location and 
condition.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Leases  

EDO as a lessee  

EDO assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. If the contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration, the contract is considered 
as a lease. EDO applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets. EDO recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets 
representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

EDO applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases 
of low-value assets. EDO recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing 
the right to use the underlying assets. 
 
i) Right-of-use assets 

EDO recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount 
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: 
 
Production wells and facilities 
- Crude oil production facilities  10 to 25 years 
- Rigs and hoists   2 to 25 years 
- Well service units   2 to 12 years 
Movables, vehicles, software, computing and communication 
- Logistics and other equipment  7 to 17 years 
- Vehicles  2 to 15 years 
- Corporate equipment  2 to 4 years 
 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the EDO at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise 
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. The right-of-use assets 
are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section impairment of non-financial assets. 

ii) Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, EDO recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in- substance 
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, 
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise 
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by EDO and payments of penalties for terminating 
the lease, if the lease term reflects EDO exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not 
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses unless they are incurred to produce inventories in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the EDO uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 
for the lease payments made. The carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a 
change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase 
the underlying asset. 
 
iii) Use of hindsight 

EDO applies the use of hindsight practical expedients to leases where EDO has determined the lease term as the 
lease contract contains an option to extend or terminate the lease. Based on this EDO has determined different 
lease terms for different leases based on the contract option.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Leases (continued) 
 
iv) Short term leases and low-value assets 

EDO applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of certain assets (i.e., those leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain an extension or 
purchase option). It also applies the low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of certain office equipment 
that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

EDO assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, EDO estimates the asset's recoverable amount. 
An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs to 
sell (FVLCS) and its value-in-use (VIU) and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the 
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions 
are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is 
used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded entities 
or other available fair value indicators. 

EDO bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared separately 
for each of EDO¶s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast 
calculations are generally covering a five-year period.  

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, EDO estimates the asset's 
or cash-generating unit's recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there 
has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable 
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.  

Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity. 
 
i) Financial assets   

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).  

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow 
FKDUDFWHULVWLFV�DQG�('2¶s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables and due 
from related parties that do not contain a significant financing component, EDO initially measures a financial 
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. 
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are measured at the transaction price. 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs 
to give rise to cash flows that are 'solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)' on the principal amount 
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. EDO' business 
model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

i) Financial assets (continued) 

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)  

The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the 
financial assets, or both. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that EDO 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 
x Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments); 
x Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt 

instruments); 
x Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses 

upon derecognition (equity instruments); and 
x Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets at amortised cost 

This category is the most relevant to EDO. EDO measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the 
following conditions are met: 
x The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows, and 
x The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and 
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 
modified or impaired. 

EDO' financial assets at amortised cost includes bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables, due from 
related parties, housing loan receivables and other non-current assets. 

EDO does not have any financial assets at fair value through OCI or financial assets carried at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

Impairment of financial assets 

EDO recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all financial assets not held at fair value 
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that EDO expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original 
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other 
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.  

ECLs are recognised in two stages for due from related parties, other receivables and other financial assets. For 
credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs 
are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-
month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 

For trade receivables, EDO applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs as these financial assets do not 
contain a significant financing component and usually have a maturity of one year or less. Therefore, EDO does 
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on ECLs at each reporting date. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

i) Financial assets (continued) 

Impairment (continued) 

EDO has established default rates that is based on its historical credit loss experience and the probability of default 
associated with the Oman Government, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the customers and the 
economic environment, and taking into account any coverage by letters of credit. EDO considers a financial asset 
in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, EDO may also consider a 
financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that EDO is unlikely to receive the 
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by EDO. A 
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.  

Derecognition of financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from statement of financial position) when: 
 
x The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
x EDO has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 

WKH� UHFHLYHG� FDVK� IORZV� LQ� IXOO� ZLWKRXW� PDWHULDO� GHOD\� WR� D� WKLUG� SDUW\� XQGHU� D� µSDVV- thrRXJK¶�
arrangement; and either (a) EDO has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
(b) EDO has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but has 
transferred control of the asset. 

When the EDO has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass- through 
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of 
the asset, EDO continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that 
case, EDO also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured 
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that EDO has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of 
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that EDO could be required 
to repay. 
 
ii) Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings 
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

EDO' financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables, lease liabilities, due to related parties and 
other liabilities.  

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Loans and borrowings 

This is the category most relevant to EDO. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated 
by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. 

This category generally applies to borrowings, trade and other payables, lease liabilities, due to related parties 
and other liabilities. 
 

 



 
 
 

Energy Development Oman SAOC  
Financial statements 

31 December 2021 
 
Notes to the financial statements of the Energy Development Oman SAOC (continued) 
 

33 | P a g e  
 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

ii) Financial liabilities (continued) 
 
Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Current versus non-current classification 

EDO presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on a current/non-current 
classification. An asset is classified as current when it is: 
x Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle 
x Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
x Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
x Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 

twelve months after the reporting period 

All other assets are classified as non-current.  
 
A liability is classified as current when: 
x It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle 
x It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
x It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
x There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period 

EDO classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position if, and only if: 
 
x There is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
x There is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 

simultaneously. 

Cash and bank  

Cash and bank balances in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and cash in hand. For the 
purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash in hand and cash at bank, as 
defined above, as they are considered an integral part of ('2¶s cash management. 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs include interest and direct costs such as underwriting, stamp duty, legal and other related costs 
in connection with borrowings. Costs other than interest are deferred when incurred and amortised over the 
contractual term of the debt. Interest costs are computed using the effective interest rate method in accordance 
with IFRS 9. Borrowing costs incurred for the purpose of acquiring, constructing or producing a qualifying asset 
are capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised while acquisition or construction is actively 
underway and cease once the asset is substantially complete or suspended if the development of the asset is 
suspended. 

Borrowing costs which are directly attributable to the construction of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use, are added to the cost of those assets, 
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. All other borrowing costs are recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Fair value measurements 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

x In the principal market for the asset or liability; or  

x In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.  

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by EDO. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value 
measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use 
the asset in its highest and best use. 

EDO uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available 
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs. 

There are no assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements. The 
fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are not significantly different from their carrying values 
largely due to the short-term nature of these instruments. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when EDO has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where EDO expects some or all of a provision 
to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset 
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time 
value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as a finance cost. 

Abandonment provision (Decommissioning costs)  

Liabilities for decommissioning costs are recognised when EDO has an obligation to plug and abandon a well, 
dismantle and remove a facility or an item of plant and to restore the site on which it is located, and when a 
reliable estimate of that liability can be made. Where an obligation exists for a new facility or item of plant, such 
as oil and natural gas production or transportation facilities, this liability will be recognised on construction or 
installation. Similarly, where an obligation exists for a well, this liability is recognised when it is drilled. An 
obligation for abandonment may also crystallise during the period of operation of a well, facility or item of plant 
through a change in legislation or through a decision to terminate operations; an obligation may also arise in cases 
where an asset has been sold but the subsequent owner is no longer able to fulfil its abandonment obligations. 
The provision for the costs of decommissioning wells, production facilities and pipelines at the end of their 
economic lives is estimated using existing technology, at future prices, depending on the expected timing of the 
activity, and discounted using the nominal discount rate. Abandonment obligations are provided for at the present 
value of expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash flows. The value of the obligation is added 
to the carrying amount of the related asset and amortised over the useful life of the asset. 

Changes in the estimated timing, cash flows or cost of decommissioning are dealt with prospectively by recording 
an adjustment to the provision and a corresponding adjustment to abandonment assets. Any reduction in the 
decommissioning liability and, therefore, any deduction from the asset to which it relates, may not exceed the 
carrying amount of that asset. If it does, any excess over the carrying value is taken immediately to the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. If the change in estimate results in an increase in the 
abandonment provision and, therefore, an addition to the carrying value of the asset, EDO considers whether this 
is an indication of impairment of the asset as a whole, and if so, tests for impairment. If, for mature fields, the 
estimate for the revised value of oil and gas assets net of abandonment provisions exceed the recoverable value, 
that portion of the increase is charged directly to expense. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Abandonment provision (Decommissioning costs) (continued) 

The discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments and the risks specific to the liability. The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss as a finance cost. Other than the unwinding of discount on or utilisation of the 
provision, any change in the present value of the estimated expenditure is reflected as an adjustment to the 
provision and the corresponding asset where that asset is generating or is expected to generate future economic 
benefits. 

Environmental expenditures and liabilities 

Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations and do not contribute to current or 
future earnings are expensed. Liabilities for environmental costs are recognised when a clean-up is probable, and 
the associated costs can be reliably estimated. Generally, the timing of recognition of these provisions coincides 
with the commitment to a formal plan of action or, if earlier, on divestment or on closure of inactive sites. The 
amount recognised is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. Provisions for 
environmental liabilities have been estimated using existing technology, at future prices and discounted using a 
nominal discount rate. 

Contingencies 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility of 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognised in the 
financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Omani staff pension scheme 

PDO operDWHV�D�GHILQHG�EHQHILW�SHQVLRQ�VFKHPH��³WKH�6FKHPH´��IRU�LWV�2PDQL�VWDII�HQJDJHG�LQ�WKH�RLO�DQG�JDV�
operations, which requires contributions to be made to a separately administered fund which is governed by rules 
set out by PDO. 

All Omani employees employed on a full-time basis are eligible to be a Member of the Scheme from the date of 
joining PDO if he or she is able to complete 15 actual years of service effective from 1 January 2014 with PDO 
before they reach the age of 60 years for male and 55 years for female (with an option to work until the age of 60 
years). PDO contributes into the Scheme each month as determined by the Pensions Committee acting on 
Actuarial Advice and classifies the Scheme as a Plan Asset under IAS 19 Employee Benefits. The cost of 
providing benefit under the plan is determined by using the projected unit credit method with actuarial valuation 
being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. 

Re-measurement, comprising actuarial gain and losses, and the return of plan assets (excluding interest), is 
reflected immediately in the balance sheet with a charge/credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the 
period in which they occur. Re-measurement recognised in other comprehensive cost is reflected immediately in 
retained earnings and will not be reclassified to the statement of other comprehensive income. Past service cost 
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the period of the plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by 
applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined liability/asset. 

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows: 
x Service cost (including current service cost, past service costs as well as gains and losses on curtailment 

and settlements) 
x Net interest expense/income 

EDO presents the first two components of the defined benefit costs in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the actual 
deficit or surplus in the defined benefit plan. Further details are contained in Note 25.  

Non-Omani staff pension liabilities 

Non-2PDQL� WHUPLQDO� EHQHILWV� DUH� DFFRXQWHG� IRU� RQ� DQ� DFFUXDO¶V� EDVLV�� (QG-of-service benefits for seconded 
expatriate staff is based upon the liability accrued in accordance with the defined contributions of the irrespective 
pension schemes. End-of-service benefits for other expatriate staff are accrued in accordance with the provisions 
of the Oman Labour Law, 2003 (as amended). Further details are contained in Note 25. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Foreign currencies 

('2¶s financial statements are presented in United States Dollars, which is also its functional currency.  

Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rates prevailing at the date of 
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income.  

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss 
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the 
gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item.  

Distribution of assets 

Any transfer of non-financial assets, including inventories, under common control, without consideration are 
considered to be equity transactions either in specie distribution or contribution. EDO, which gives away the non-
financial asset reflects the transaction as a distribution in specie to the Government and accounts for the transfer 
by derecognising the distributed asset at its carrying value against the invested capital within the equity. 

Tax 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities. The charge for current tax is calculated based on the income reported by EDO, as adjusted 
for items that are non-taxable or disallowed elements, and other allowable expenses. The tax rates and tax laws 
used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the 
jurisdiction where EDO operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement 
of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations 
in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss 

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits 
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Tax (continued) 

Deferred tax (continued) 

- In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to 
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. 

EDO offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities 
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets 
are expected to be settled or recovered. 

Royalties 

,Q� DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK� WKH� )LVFDO� 3URWRFRO��('2� VKDOO� SD\� UR\DOWLHV� WR� WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�EDVHG� LQ�('2¶V�weekly 
revenue from the sale of its participating interest share of crude oil and condensate. EDO pays royalties to the 
Government based on sliding scale royalty rate on the weekly revenue from the sale of crude oil and condensate 
calculated by applying the Oman export blend crude oil price (MOG Prices) for the nominated month of lifting 
times the number of barrels of crude oil and condensate lifted by EDO at the petroleum delivery point in such 
PRQWK�DIWHU�GHGXFWLRQ�RI�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�share of FSA Barrels. The royalties payable by EDO meet the criteria 
to be treated as an expense, and accordingly, recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Cash dividend 

EDO recognises a liability to pay a dividend when the distribution is authorised, and the distribution is no longer 
at the discretion of the Company. A distribution is authorised when it is approved by the &RPSDQ\¶V�VKDUHKROGHU. 
A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity. Dividends for the year that are approved after the 
reporting date are dealt with as an event after the reporting date. 

Changes in significant accounting policies  

New and amended standards and interpretations 

The Company applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 01 January 2021. The Company has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or 
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. Several amendments apply for the first time in 2021, but 
do not have an impact on the financial statements of the Company. Other than the changes described below, the 
accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Changes in significant accounting policies (continued) 

New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform ± Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an interbank 
offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). The amendments include 
the following practical expedients: 
- A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly required by 

the reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement in a market  
rate of interest 

- Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation without 
the hedging relationship being discontinued 

- Provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR 
instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component 

These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Company. The Company intends to use the 
practical expedients in future periods if they become applicable. 

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 Amendments to IFRS 16 
On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases. The 
amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent 
concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic.  
As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor 
is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from 
the Covid-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16 if the change 
were not a lease modification.  
The amendment was intended to apply until 30 June 2021, but as the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is 
continuing, on 31 March 2021, the IASB extended the period of application of the practical expedient to 30 June 
2022. The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. However, the 
Company has not received Covid-19-related rent concessions but plans to apply the practical expedient if it 
becomes applicable within allowed period of application. 
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4. Revenue 

In terms of the timing of revenue recognition, revenue is recognised at a point in time, when the control of goods 
is transferred to the customer. EDO does not render any other services. There are no financing components with 
respect to the contracts with customers. 
 
Contract balances 
Refer Note 17 for trade receivables. 
 
Contract liabilities represent advances received to deliver goods and are short-term in nature (Refer Note 19). 
These advances do not have any financing component and are customary in nature. The duration between the 
transfer of a promised goods or services to a customer and the payment for that goods or services will be less than 
a year. Therefore, it is not considered as variable consideration and did not have any impact on the transaction 
price. 
 
There were no contract liabilities at the beginning of the year and at the beginning of the earliest period presented, 
as a result no revenue was recognised during 2021 and 2020 from the contract liabilities.  
 
Information about EDO¶s performance obligation is summarised in Note 3 Revenue from contracts with 
customers. 
  

 Crude oil NAG & 
Condensate 

Adjustments 
& 

eliminations 

Corporates 
& others 

Total 
 

2021  86�¶��� 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
      
External customers - Crude 
Oil 

6,696,629 - - - 6,696,629 

External customers - NAG - 2,259,084 - - 2,259,084 
External customers -  
Condensate 

- 2,576,585 - - 2,576,585 

Inter Segment - 65,323 (65,323) - - 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Total revenue from 
contracts with customers 

6,696,629 4,900,992 (65,323) - 11,532,298 

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
      
2020      
 
 

     

External customers - Crude 
Oil 

5,837,773 - - - 5,837,773 

External customers - NAG - 2,599,550  - - 2,599,550 

External customers - 
Condensate 

- 1,724,500   - 1,724,500  

Inter Segment - 238,031 (238,031) -  -  
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Total revenue from contracts 
with customers 

5,837,773 4,562,081 (238,031) - 10,161,823  

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
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5. Other income and expenses 
 

5.1 Other operating income 
 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
OBRDA compensation (Refer Note 3 Other operating revenue) 22,607 19,440  
Changes in abandonment estimates (Refer Note 25) 10,361 - 
Gains on disposals of property, plant and equipment 12,000 7,217 
Foreign exchange gain 224 - 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
 45,192 26,657 
 őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 

The gains on disposals of property, plant and equipment represents the recovery of assets written off prior to 2020 
and 2021.  

 
 

5.2 Other operating expenses 
 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Assets written-off and/ or disposed (Refer Note 11a) (29,391) (17,632)  
Bank charges (1) - 
Other expenses (16,993) - 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
 (46,385) (17,632)  
 őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 

 
5.3 Finance costs 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Unwinding cost on abandonment provision (Refer Note 25) (143,740) (90,802)  
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Refer Note 23) (43,008) (38,021)  
Bank interest (25,148) - 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
 (211,896) (128,823) 
 őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 

 
5.4 Finance income 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Interest income 7,812 22,196 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
 7,812 22,196 
 őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 

 
The interest income also includes unwinding of financing element of an outstanding receivable from 2016 relating 
to NAG sales to the related entity, an entity under common control, of US$ 7,428 �µ�����DQG�86��21,517 �µ�����IRU�
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively. The receivables were provided with an extended credit 
term (more than a year).  
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6. Depreciation, depletion, and amortisation 
 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (Refer Note 11a) (3,133,251) (2,933,649)  
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (Refer Note 11b) (84,375) (86,204)  
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
 (3,217,626) (3,019,853) 
 őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 

 
7. Production expenses  

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Well production expenses (62,048) (247,325)  
Surface operations and maintenance expenses  (452,187)  (451,237) 
Other production expenses   (380,963)  (256,053) 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
 (895,198) (954,615) 
 őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 

 
The production expenses include staff costs of US$ 607,043 �µ�����DQG�86��617,525 �µ�����IRU�WKH�\HDUV�HQGHG�
31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively (Refer Note 10). Crude oil inventory movement, including under-
liftings EHWZHHQ�('2�DQG�WKH�0R(0¶V�VKDUH�LQ�RWKHU�%ORFNV, amounting to US$ 164,943 and US$ (9,310) �µ�����
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively are included in well production expenses.  
 
 
 
8. Royalty expenses  

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Royalty expense on crude oil (2,335,763) - 
Royalty expense on condensate (745,106) - 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
 (3,080,869) - 
 őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 

 
 
 

 
9. Selling, distribution and general management expenses  

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Basic salaries and allowances (Refer note 10) (1,788) (1,373)  
Transportation costs (74,106) (204,637)  
Additions to ECL provisions (Refer Note 17 and 21) 2,338 (1,795)  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
 (73,556) (207,805) 
 őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 
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10. Staff cost 
 

 
 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Basic salaries and allowances (503,613) (506,832) 
Retirement benefit costs (4,699) (5,019)  
Staff pension scheme (140,559) (132,211) 
Other associated costs (55,840) (52,037) 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
  (704,711) (696,099) 
 őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 

 
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, staff costs of US$ 95,880 �µ���� and US$ 77,201 �µ���� 
UHVSHFWLYHO\��ZHUH�FDSLWDOLVHG�LQ�³3URGXFWLRQ�ZHOOV�	�SURGXFWLRQ�IDFLOLWLHV´�DQG�³:RUN�LQ�SURJUHVV´. 
 
Staff costs of US$ 607,043 �µ�����DQG�86��617,525 �µ�����IRU�WKH�\HDUV�HQGHG����'HFHPEHU����1 and 2020, 
respectively, are included within production expenses. (Refer Note 7)  
 
Staff costs of US$ 1,788 �µ����� DQG� 86�� 1,373 �µ����� IRU� WKH� \HDUV� HQGHG� ��� 'HFHPEHU� ���1 and 2020, 
respectively, are included within selling, distribution and general management expenses. (Refer Note 9)
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11.a Property, plant, and equipment 
 

 Production 
wells & 

production 
facilities 

Concession 
& 

preliminary 
expenses 

 
Building, repair 

shop, airport, 
and 

instrumentation 

Movables, 
vehicle, software, 

computing & 
communication 

 
Main Oil/ Gas 
line, line fill & 
other facilities 

 
Exploration 

and evaluation 
assets 

 
 

Work in 
progress 

 
 

Abandonment 
assets 

 
 
 

Total 

 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 
Cost          
At 1 January 2021  48,148,675 4,620  1,496,134  771,818  629,465  172,770  4,451,8812  1,413,568  57,088,931 
Additions  1,232,590 -    32,297 37,495  3,209 169,025 1,758,0872  289,690  3,522,393 
Change in estimates - - - - - - - 222,618 222,618 
Transfer within assets 
classes/ to other assets 

2,716,774 -    86,982 -    27,186  (95,749) (2,735,193) -    -    

Assets written-off and/ or 
disposed 

(19,073) -    (383) (1,512) (967) (26,547) -    (35,952) (84,434) 1 

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2021 52,078,966 4,620  1,615,030 807,801  658,893  219,499  3,474,775 1,889,924 60,749,508 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Depreciation          
At 1 January 2021 (31,805,604) (4,620) (717,225) (688,581) (421,278) -  (846) (638,674) (34,276,828) 
Charge for the year  (2,936,314) -    (61,981) (41,321) (13,450) - -    (80,185) (3,133,251) 
Assets written-off and/ or 
disposed 

16,231  -    383  1,511  966  -    -    - 19,0911  

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2021 (34,725,687) (4,620) (778,823) (728,391) (433,762) - (846) (718,859) (37,390,988) 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Net book value at 31 
December 2021 

17,353,279 - 836,207 79,410 225,131 219,499 3,473,929 1,171,065 23,358,520 

 őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 
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11.a Property, plant, and equipment (continued) 
 

1. The net book value of Assets written-off and/ or disposed (excluding abandonment assets) for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounting to 29,391 �µ�����has been charged 
WR�WKH�µRWKHU�RSHUDWLQJ�H[SHQVHV¶�LQ�WKH statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The gain/loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment is charged to 
µRWKHU�RSHUDWLQJ�LQFRPH¶�LQ�WKH�statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 
2. Work in progress includes borrowing costs relating to utilisation of loan proceeds from the Omani Pension Fund amounting to US$ 64,055 �µ�����LQ�WKH�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�D�SURMHFW�

LQ�5DV�$O�+DPUD��³5$+´��ZKLFK�LQFOXGHV�DGGLWLRQV�RI�86��3,066 �µ�����GXULQJ�WKH�year ended 31 December 2021.  
 

Work-in-progress also includes non-cash additions of depreciation expenses relating to right-of-use assets that were capitalised amounting to US$ 119,820 �µ������(Refer note 
11b) 
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11.a Property, plant, and equipment (continued) 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Production 
wells & 

production 
facilities 

Concession 
& 

preliminary 
expenses 

 
Building, repair 

shop, airport and 
instrumentation 

Movables, 
vehicle, software, 

computing & 
communication 

 
Main Oil/ Gas 
line, line fill & 
other facilities 

 
Exploration and 

evaluation 
assets 

 
 

Work in 
progress 

 
 

Abandonment 
assets 

 
 
 

Total  
 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 
Cost          
At 1 January 2020   43,947,298   4,620   1,294,134   742,341   619,970   160,186   5,987,3342   912,144   53,668,027  
Additions  1,183,310   -   104,258   31,116   9,709   138,351   1,676 ,9332   183,502  3,327,179 
Change in estimates - - - - - - - 352,163 352,163 
Transfer within assets classes  3,043,390   -   97,999   103   -     (110,574)  (3,030,918) -  -  
Transfer to other asset classes       (179,973) - (179,973) 
Assets written-off and/ or 
disposed   (25,323)  -   (257)  (1,742)  (214)  (15,193)  (1,495)  (34,241)1  (78,465)1 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2020  48,148,675   4,620   1,496,134   771,818   629,465   172,770    4,451,881  1,413,568  57,088,931 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Depreciation          
At 1 January 2020  (29,124,040)  (4,620)  (662,208)  (649,820)  (408,146)  -   (846)  (520,091)  (31,369,771) 
Charge for the year  (2,706,222)  -   (55,169)  (40,329)  (13,346)  -   -   (118,583)  (2,933,649) 
Assets written-off and/ or 
disposed  24,658  -     152   1,568   214   -   -  -   26,5921  
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2020  (31,805,604)  (4,620)  (717,225)  (688,581)  (421,278)  -   (846)  (638,674)  (34,276,828) 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Net book value at  
31 December 2020   16,343,071   -   778,909   83,237   208,187   172,770  4,451,035  774,894    22,812,103 
  őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 
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11.a Property, plant, and equipment (continued) 
 
1. The net book value of Assets written-off and/ or disposed (excluding abandonment assets) for the year amounting to US$ 17,632 �µ�����KDV�EHHQ�FKDUJHG�WR�WKH�µRWKHU�RSHUDWLQJ�

H[SHQVHV¶. The gain/loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment is FKDUJHG�WR�µRWKHU�RSHUDWLQJ�LQFRPH¶.  
 
2. Work in progress includes borrowing costs relating to utilisation RI�ORDQ�SURFHHGV�IURP�WKH�2PDQL�3HQVLRQ�)XQG�DPRXQWLQJ�WR�86����������µ�����LQ�WKH�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�D�SURMHFW�

LQ�5DV�$O�+DPUD��³5$+´��ZKLFK�LQFOXGHV�DGGLWLRQV�RI�86����������µ�����GXULQJ�WKH�\HDU����'HFHPEHU������� 
 

Work-in-progress also includes non-cash additions of depreciation expenses relating to right-of-use assets that were capitalised amounting to US$ 127,304 �µ���� (Refer note 
11b) 
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11.b Right-of-use assets  
 

  
Production wells 

& production 
facilities 

Movables, vehicles, 
software, 

computing & 
communication  

 
 
 

Total 
 US$ 000 US$ 000  US$ 000 
Cost    
At 1 January 2021  1,604,239   111,064   1,715,303  
Modification adjustment   28,952   10,870   39,822  
Additions   149,961   -     149,961  
Disposals   (51,472)  -     (51,472) 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2021  1,731,680   121,934   1,853,614  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Accumulated Depreciation     
At 1 January 2021   (514,665)  (64,413)  (579,078) 
Charge for the year  (183,270)  (20,925)  (204,195) 
Disposals  20,479   -     20,479  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2021  (677,456)  (85,338)  (762,794) 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Net book value at 31 December 2021  1,054,224   36,596   1,090,820  

 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
 
Depreciation for the year was reported as follows:  US$ 000 

Depreciation expense charged to statement of profit or loss (Refer Note 6) 84,375 
Depreciation expense capitalised as part of property, plant and equipment (Refer Note 11a) 119,820 
 ņņņņņņņ 
 204,195 
 ņņņņņņņ 

Modifications to a lease agreement beyond the original terms and conditions are accounted for as a re-measurement 
of the lease liability with a corresponding adjustment to the right of use assets.  
 
31 December 2020 

  
Production wells 

& production 
facilities 

Movables, vehicles, 
software, 

computing & 
communication  

 
 

 
 

Total 
Cost US$ 000 US$ 000  US$ 000 
At 1 January 2020  1,405,856   84,098   1,489,954  
Modification adjustment1  91,693   27,087   118,780  
Additions   111,500   -   111,500  
Disposals   (4,810)  (121)  (4,931) 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2020  1,604,239   111,064   1,715,303  
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Accumulated Depreciation     
At 1 January 2020  (326,888)  (42,591)  (369,479) 
Charge for the year  (191,650)  (21,858)  (213,508) 
Disposals  3,873   36   3,909  
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2020  (514,665)  (64,413)  (579,078) 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Net book value at 31 December 2020  1,089,574   46,651   1,136,225  
 
 

őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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11.b Right-of-use assets (continued) 
 
Depreciation for the year was reported as follows:  US$ 000 
Depreciation expense charged to profit or loss   86,204  
Depreciation expense capitalised as part of property, plant and equipment (Note 11a)  127,304  
 ņņņņņņņ 
 213,508  
 ņņņņņņņ 
1Modifications to a lease agreement beyond the original terms and conditions are accounted for as a re-measurement 
of the lease liability with a corresponding adjustment to the right of use assets.  
 

 
12. Cash and bank balances  

For EDO, cash equivalents comprise of cash at bank (in current accounts). These balances do not earn any interest 
and can be withdrawn on demand. Considering the macroeconomic factors, the management has not assumed any 
probability of default relating to these financial assets. 
 
 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 

 US$ 000 US$ 000 
Bank name   
National Bank of Oman  835  1,028 
HSBC Bank Middle East  36,774  148 
JP Morgan  182,784   
Bank Muscat  120,295   
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 

 340,688 1,176 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
The credit risk rating for National Bank of Oman was Ba2 as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: Ba3).  
The credit risk rating for HSBC Bank Middle East was A3 as at 31 December 2021  
(31 December 2020: A3).  
 
The credit risk rating for JP Morgan was A2 and for Bank Muscat was Ba3 as at 31 December 2021. These are 
EDVHG�RQ�0RRG\¶V�UDWLQJV� 
 
  

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Cash at bank 340,688  1,176  
Cash in hand 92  92  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
 340,780 1,268 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 



Energy Development Oman SAOC  
Financial statements 

31 December 2021 
 
Notes to the financial statements of the Energy Development Oman SAOC (continued) 
 

49 | P a g e  
 

 
13. Issued capital and reserves 
 
Authorised shares 
 

 
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid 

 
OCI items, net of tax: 
The disaggregation of OCI in retained earnings is shown below: 
 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
Re-measurement of pension fund obligation (39,633)   207,177   
Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during the 
year 

(115,771) - 

 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņ 
 (155,404) 207,177   
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
 
  

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Ordinary shares of OMR 1 each 1,300  - 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
 1,300 - 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Issued on 06 December 2020 1,300  - 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
 1,300 - 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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14. Housing loans 
 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Current 2,116 114,513  
Non-current 10,678 18,553  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
 12,794 133,066  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
Housing loans comprise loans disbursed by PDO to Omani staff for the purchase or construction of 
DFFRPPRGDWLRQ�XQGHU�3'2¶V�+RXVLQJ�/RDQ�6FKHPH��7KH�ORDQV�DUH�VHFXUHG�E\�D�PRUWJDJH�RYHU�WKH�WLWOH�GHHGV�RI�
the accommodation purchased or constructed. The loans are non-interest bearing and have a term ranging from 
18 to 20 years.  
 
In December 2020, a Sub-participation facility agreement was executed between PDO LLC and Bank Muscat 
SAOG under which Bank Muscat agreed to participate in PDO's housing loan portfolio. Under this agreement 
KRXVLQJ�ORDQ�SRUWIROLR�RI�86�����������µ�����ZDV�VROG�WR�%DQN�0XVFDW�6$2*�LQ�'HFHPEHU�������&RQVHTXHQWO\��
the housing loan portfolio RI�86�����������µ�����ZDV�GHUHFRJQLVHG�IURP�('2¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�� 
 
3'2¶V�KRXVLQJ�ORDQ�UHFHLvables balances were neither past due nor impaired as of the reporting date. 
 
 
Expected credit loss for housing loans receivables 
 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
At 1 January 690 895  
Provision written-off - (205) 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
At 31 December  690 690 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
 

15. Disclosure segment information  

EDO are a combination of the following three components: 
x the cost of exploration and production of crude oil from PDO,  
x the cost of exploration and production of NAG and condensate from the Gas operations, and  
x the sales & marketing of the crude oil, NAG and condensate undertaken by the MoEM.  

For the purpose of the financial statements, the operating segment is organised into business units based on the 
types of products and thus has two reportable segments, as follows: 

x Crude oil segment - includes all activities related to the crude oil exploration, production, sales and 
marketing. This segment is further split into export and domestic sales categories. 

x NAG & Condensate segment - includes activities related to: 
o the non-associated gas reserves that are developed; and  
o the condensate exploration, production, sales and marketing, which is blended with crude oil and 

sold at the same price. 

The information for the above segments is presented as if they were operating for the year ended 31 December 
2020. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with 
operating profit or loss in the financial statements.  
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15. Disclosure segment information (continued) 

Adjustments and eliminations 

Finance income, finance costs and capital expenditures are allocated to individual segments to which the 
expenditure is attributable to. Finance income relates to interest income accrued on low-interest loans and deferred 
payments. Finance cost relates to the interest component for the lease liabilities and abandonment provisions. 
Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment. 

NAG consumed by the crude oil segment has been eliminated from the NAG & condensate revenue and the 
related costs have been deducted from the crude oil segments. Such inter-segment revenue and related costs are 
UHIOHFWHG�LQ�WKH�µDGMXVWPHQWV�DQG�HOLPLQDWLRQ¶�FROXPQ��,Q�DGGLWLRQ��WKHUH�DUH�FHUWDLQ�FRUSRUDWH�FRVWV�LQFXUUHG�LQ�
the management of corporate or functional activities that are undertaken centrally to attain efficiency and 
standardisation. These costs are allocated to NAG & condensate. The NAG overhead costs incurred by PDO 
(crude oil segment) are allocated to the NAG & condensate segment. The amount of reallocated costs from the 
FUXGH�RLO�VHJPHQW�WR�WKH�1$*�	�FRQGHQVDWH�VHJPHQW�DUH�86�����������µ�����LQ������������86�����������µ������ 

('2¶V�organisational structure reflects the various activities in which the Block 6 is engaged. At 31 December 
2021, EDO had three reportable segments: crude oil, NAG & Condensate and corporate & others. 

The following table represents the information on the segments noted above:  
 
 

 

Crude oil 
NAG & 

Condensate 

Adjustments 
& 

eliminations 
Corporates 

& others 
Total 

 
2021  86�¶��� 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
      
External customers - Crude 
Oil 6696,629 - - - 6,696,629 
External customers - NAG - 2,259,084 - - 2,259,084 
External customers -  
Condensate - 2,576,585 - - 2,576,585 
Inter Segment - 65,323 (65,323) - - 

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Total revenue from contracts 
with customers 6696,629 4,900,992 (65,323) - 11,532,298 

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
      
Depreciation and 
amortisation 1,971,643 1,161,608 - - 3,133,251 
Depreciation right-of-use 
assets 67,496 16,879 - - 84,375 
Interest revenue (39) (7,428) - (345) (7,812) 
Interest expense on lease 
liabilities 35,298 7,710  - 43,008 
Inter-segment 202,127 - (65,323) - 136,804 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Profit for the year 780,582 3,318,424 - (39,234) 4,059,772 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 

  Segment Assets  15,538,747 12,327,041 (7,521) 302,782 28,161,049 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
Segment Liabilities 4,319,678 2,606,735 (7,521) 2,482,948 9,401,840 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
Other disclosures      
Capital expenditure 2,264,662 968,041 - - 3,232,703 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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15. Disclosure segment information (continued) 
 

 Crude oil 
NAG & 

Condensate 

Adjustments 
& 

eliminations 
Corporates 

& others 
Total 

 
2020 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
      
External customers - Crude 
Oil 5,837,773 - - - 5,837,773 
External customers - NAG - 2,599,550  - - 2,599,550  
External customers - 
Condensate - 1,724,500   - 1,724,500  
Inter Segment - 238,031 (238,031) -  -  

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Total revenue from contracts 
with customers 5,837,773 4,562,081 (238,031) - 10,161,823    

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
      
Depreciation and amortisation  1,803,002   1,130,647   -    -  2,933,649  
Depreciation right-of-use 
assets  68,963   17,241   -    -  86,204  
Interest revenue  (679)  (21,517)  -    -  (22,196) 
Interest expense on lease 
liabilities  30,704   7,317   -    -  38,021  
Inter-segment  238,031   -     (238,031) -  -    
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Profit for the year 2,900,375 2,981,573  -     -    5,881,948 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 

  Segment Assets  15,092,036 12,105,748  (43,523) - 27,154,261 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
Segment Liabilities 3,550,072  1,577,109   (43,523) - 5,083,658 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
Other disclosures      
Capital expenditure 2,264,662 1,230,368  -     -    3,495,030 

 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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16. Inventories  
 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 

 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Material stock 211,493 226,248  
Project bulk material stock (flowlines and hook-up) 83,812 83,411  
Crude oil inventory  174,144 9,201  
Consignment stock  8,575 7,168  
Well advance stock 6,630 7,248  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
 484,654 333,276    
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

The below table presents the movement in provision for obsolete stock.  
 

  31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
At 1 January 37,042 47,576  
Additions to provisions (recognised in statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income)  

6,000 - 

Write-offs (11,064) (10,534) 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 31,978 37,042   
 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
17. Receivables and prepayments 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Trade receivables 18,285  813,782   
Prepayments  65,792  15,497 
Other receivables 76,542 35,499 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
 160,619 864,778   
   
Less: non-current portion of receivables and prepayments 21,517 21,001  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Current portion of receivables and prepayments 139,102   843,777  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30-60-day terms.  
 
Expected credit loss for trade receivables 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 

 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
At 1 January 12,120 11,082  
(Reversals)/additions to provisions (1,717) 1,038  
  ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
At 31 December  10,403 12,120  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
EDO applies a simplified approach to calculate ECLs. EDO considers the receivables in default when contractual 
payments are 90 days past due. EDO has established default rates that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience and the probability of default associated with Oman Government, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
specific to the customers 
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18. Computation of distributed to the Government 
 

Distribution of assets in specie* 
'XULQJ�WKH�SHULRG�IURP���-DQXDU\������WR����)HEUXDU\�������RXW�RI�WKH�WRWDO�0R(0¶V�VKDUH�RI�RLO�SURGXFWLRQ��
EDO WUDQVIHUUHG� SURGXFWLRQ� YROXPHV� RI� ���� �µ����� EDUUHOV� in 2021 and 1,830 �µ����� EDUUHOV� in 2020 to the 
Government. This arrangement is considered as an equity transaction and accounted for as a distribution of asset 
in specie to the Government. Therefore, EDO has recognised the cost of these barrels amounting to US$ 7,027 
�µ���� for the period from 1 January 2021 to 23 February 2021 and US$ 35,915 �µ�����IRU�WKH�year ended 31 
December 2020 in the invested capital. (Refer Note 21). 
 
19. Payables and accruals  

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 

 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Trade payables   

Foreign 5,732 14,325  
Domestic  300,958 384,427  

 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
 306,690 398,752  
Accrued expenses 585,354 520,990  
Deferred income 2,305 2,305  
Other payables and provisions 98,985 122,463 
Royalty payables 544,575 - 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
 1,537,909 1,044,510 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

Trade payables and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within a 30±45-day term. 
For details of EDO¶s liquidity risk management processes, refer Note 29. 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 
 

US$ 000 US$ 000 
 (Up to Fiscal 

Protocol)  
 

Total revenue from the sale of crude oil, NAG and condensate 
(including other operating income and finance income) 

2,638,748 10,419,294 

Add: Outstanding receivables as of 31 December 2020 / 31 
December 2019 

1,599,179 1,447,024 

Less: Outstanding receivables as of 24 February 2021 for Oil and 5 
May 2021 for NAG and condensate (comparative period: 31 
December 2020) 

(1,652,129) (2,302,038) 

Less: Expenses incurred during the year (Residue reinjection, 
transportation costs and other overheads) 

(23,505) (141,737) 

Less: Outstanding Payables on expenses incurred for the previous 
year (Residue reinjection and transportation costs) 

(64,319) (82,429) 

Add: Adjustment of advances received to the related party - (137,723) 
Less: Cash call payments made by the MoEM to PDO (60%) and 
Gas operations (100%) 

(1,027,508) (4,443,715) 

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Total cash distributed on retained earnings 1,470,466 4,758,676 
Distribution of assets in specie* 7,027  35,915 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Total surplus distributed to the Government 1,477,493 4,794,591 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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20. Term Loan 

 

7KLV�ORDQ�LV�UHSD\DEOH�LQ�HTXDO�LQVWDOPHQWV�RI�86����������µ�����IURP�WZHQW\-seven months after the date of the 
facility agreement dated 11 August 2021. The instalments will be paid once every three months up to 81 months 
from the date of the facility agreement, aggregating nineteen instalments. This loan is repayable in full in 2028 
with a finDO�LQVWDOPHQW�RI�86�����������µ�����  The rate of interest on each instalment is the aggregate of the 
margin (2.95% per annum) and applicable LIBOR. 
 
21. Related party transactions 

EDO is ultimately held and controlled by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman. EDO operates in an economic 
environment dominated by entities directly or indirectly controlled by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman 
through its government authorities, agencies, affiliations, and other organisations, collectively referred to as 
government-related entities. 

EDO has elected to take the exemption available under IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, to disclose only the 
key transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments, with the Government of the Sultanate of 
Oman and any other entity that is considered to be a related party because the same government has control, joint 
control or significant influence over itself and the other entity. 

EDO has transactions with other government-related entities, including but not limited to sales and purchases of 
goods, rendering and receiving services, and use of public utilities. These transactions are conducted in the 
ordinary course of EDO on terms comparable to those with other entities that are not government related. 

The nature of the related party transaction with the Government entities that are considered to be significant 
transactions and that have significant balances outstanding as at the end of the reporting periods are detailed 
below: 

Revenue 

Prior to the application of fiscal protocol, NAG revenue from Government entities is approximately 81.87% (31 
December 2020: 81.87%). Under the fiscal protocol, NAG revenue from Government entities is 100% of the total 
NAG revenue. The NAG revenue from government entities during the year ended December 2021 amounts to 
US$ 2,090,315 �µ������ �31 December 2020: US$ 2,128,149 �µ������ ZLWK� FRUUHVSRQGLQJ� UHFHLYDEOHV� RI� 86� 
367,132 �µ���� as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: US$ 373,278 �µ������� 

With respect to crude oil revenue, prior to the application of the fiscal protocol, domestic crude oil revenue from 
Government is 100%. Under the fiscal protocol 100% crude oil revenue is from Government amounting to US$  
6,238,559 �µ�����GXULQJ�WKH�year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: US$ 2,293,638 �µ������ZLWK�D�
corresponding receivable of US$ 745,903�µ����� DV� DW� 31 December 2021(31 December 2020: US$ 428,091 
�µ������ 

With respect to condensate revenue, 100% revenue is from Government amounting to US$ 2,576,585 �µ�����
during the year ended 31 December 2021 with a corresponding receivable of US$ 455,094 �µ����� DV� DW� 31 
December 2021 (31 December 2020: US$ Nil).  

 

 

 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 

   
Outstanding Term Loan   
USD 2.5 billion term loan 2,500,000 - 
Less: Upfront charges capitalised (31,546)  
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
 2,468,454 - 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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21. Related party transactions (continued) 

Other operating income  

Other operating income comprises ('2¶V�VKDUH�RI�compensation received from a related Government entity for 
WKH�ORZHU�JUDGH�RI�FUXGH�RLO�DQG�FRQGHQVDWH�RI�86����������µ�����GXULQJ�WKH�\HDU�HQGHG����'HFHPEHU����������
'HFHPEHU�������86����������µ������ZLWK�FRUUHVSRQGLQJ�UHFHLYDEOHV�RI�86����������µ�����DV�DW����'HFHPEHU�
�����DQG�ZLWK�D�FRUUHVSRQGLQJ�SD\DEOH�RI�86���������µ�����DV�DW����'HFHPEHU������ 

Trade receivable and finance income 

The gas sales agreement between the MoEM and a related Government entity was amended in 2016, under which 
the related Government entity was required to make an additional payment, as the MoEM supplied a certain 
threshold of gas from the year 1996-2016. The payments are deferred for more than a year and demonstrate an 
extended credit term, and hence it includes significant elements of financing. The difference between the total of 
the outstanding receivables due in 2016 and the present value of the variable amount received over subsequent 
years is recognised as interest income to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income over 
time. The outstanding receivables amounting to NIL as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: US$ 273,270 
�µ������DQG�WKH�UHODWHG�ILQDQFH�LQFRPH�DPRXQWLQJ�WR�86���������µ���� for the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 
December 2020: US$ 21,517 �µ������LV�DOORFDWHG�WR�('2�� 

Transportation cost 

The transportation cost related to the supply of NAG is paid to a related Government entity. The cost allocated to 
EDO amounts to US$ 74,106 �µ�����GXULQJ�WKH�year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: US$ 204,637 
�µ������ZLWK�1,/�FRUUHVSRQGLQJ�SD\DEOHV�DV�DW�31 December 2021 ����'HFHPEHU�������86����������µ������� 

Royalty  

The Royalty paid by EDO to the government on its weekly revenue amounts to US$ 3,080,869 �µ�����IRU�WKH�year 
ended 31 December 2021 with a corresponding payable of US$ 544,575 �µ�����DV�RI�31 December 2021.  

Purchase cost  

The purchase of residue reinjected by a related Government entity amounts to US$ 28,511 �µ�����IRU�WKH�year 
ended 31 December 2021(31 December 2020: US$ 46 �µ������ZLWK�FRUUHVSRQGLQJ�SD\DEOHV�of US$ 28,511 �µ�����
as of 31 December 2021 and no corresponding payables as of 31 December 2020. 

Distribution of assets in specie 

During the year ended on 31 December 2021��RXW�RI�WKH�WRWDO�('2¶V�VKDUH�RI�RLO�SURGXFWLRQ��('2�WUDQVIHUUHG�
production volumes of 1,825 �µ����� EDUUHOV� �31 December 2020: 1,830 �µ������ WR� WKH� *RYHUQPHQW�� 7KLV�
arrangement amounting to US$ 39,500 �µ����� LV� FRQVLGHUHG as an equity transaction and accounted for as a 
distribution of asset in specie to the Government for the year ended 31 December 2021. The cost of the barrels 
amounting WR�86�������� �µ����� WKDW� UHODWHG� WR� WKH�SHULRG�SULRU� WR� WKH�DSSOLFDWLRQ�RI�5R\DO�'HFUHe and Fiscal 
Protocol, is recognized in the invested capital of EDO. The cost of the barrels amounting to US$ 32,473 �µ�����
(31 December 2020: US$ 35,915 �µ�����WKDW�UHODWHG�WR�SHULRG�SRVW�WKH�DSSOLFDWLRQ�RI�5R\DO�'HFUHH�DQG�)LVFDO�
Protocol, is recognized in the retained earnings. 

Supply of crude oil barrels to the Government 

Production expenses and depreciation, depletion and amortisation include the cost of FSA barrels transferred to 
the Government for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to US$ 203,154 �µ�����DQG�86��470,141 �µ������
respectively (31 December 2020: US$ Nil). The total cost of FSA barrels amounted to US$ 673,295 �µ�����year 
ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: US$ Nil). 

Distribution of Dividends 

Dividends on ordinary shares totaled US$ 2,410,668 �µ���� in 2021, which included dividend of US$ 127,668 
�µ������'XULQJ�WKH�\HDU�HQGHG�RQ����'HFHPEHU�������RXW�RI�WKH�WRWDO�('2¶V�obligation under the Fiscal Protocol 
WR�WUDQVIHU�SHWUROHXP�EDUUHOV�XQGHU�D�)RUZDUG�6DOH�$JUHHPHQW��('2�WUDQVIHUUHG��������µ�����DGGLWLRQDO�EDUUHOV�
of crude oil to the Government (Refer note 30)��7KH�WRWDO�DPRXQW�QHW�RII�UR\DOW\�DQG�WD[��RI�86�����������µ�����
was adjusted as Dividend to the Government. 
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21. Related party transactions (continued) 

Loan from the Omani Pension Fund 

PDO has entered into a credit facility with the Omani Pension Fund, under which PDO has utilised the loan 
SURFHHGV�LQ�WKH�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�D�SURMHFW�LQ�5DV�$O�+DPUD��³5$+´���7KH�DPRXQW�GXH�WR�WKH�2PDQL�3HQVLRQ�)XQG�
DQG�UHODWHG�DFFUXHG�LQWHUHVW�DPRXQWV�WR�86����������µ�����IRU�WKH�\HDU�HQGHG����'HFHPEHU����������'HFHPEHU�
2020: 86����������µ������ 

Transactions with Key managerial SHUVRQQHO��³.03´� 
 
EDO had no transactions with key EDO managerial personnel in 2021. The amounts below reflect the transactions 
with PDO key managerial personnel. 

 

The table below shows the amounts due to related parties and due from related parties as at 31 December 2021 
and 31 December 2020.  

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
Due from related parties 1,584,388 1,072,740 
Due to related parties 95,816 126,466 

 
$�VLJQLILFDQW�SRUWLRQ�RI�WKH�DERYH�UHFHLYDEOH�EDODQFHV�DUH�FODVVLILHG�DV�µFXUUHQW¶� 
 
Expected credit loss for related party receivables 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
At 1 January 1,898 1,141  
Amount provided during the year - 757  
Amounts reversed during the year (536) - 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
At 31 December   1,362 1,898 
 
 
 

őőőőőő őőőőőő 

  

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 

Salaries and other benefits 20,715 23,776 

 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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22. Advances 

Advance from a wholly owned Government entity 

The Government has entered into an agreement with a related entity, wholly owned by the Government for an 
amount of US$ 1 billion which has been advanced by the related entity to the Government. As per this agreement, 
the Government shall adjust these advances against the future supply of crude oil, through domestic sales to a 
separate related Government entity. The outstanding amount was allocated to EDO based on the monthly ratio of 
domestic crude oil sales allocated to EDO to the total 0R(0¶V�GRPHVWLF�FUXGH�RLO�VDOHV�IURP�DOO�WKH�%ORFNV��7KLV�
amount was classified as an advance. During 2020, the entire advances were adjusted by supply of crude oil. 
 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
Opening balance - 137,723 
Less: Adjusted during the year - (137,723) 
 ņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
 - - 
 
 
 

őőőőőő őőőőőő 

23. Lease liabilities 
 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
Opening balance 1,196,993 1,153,631  
Modification adjustment1 36,420 118, 780  
Additions2 149,961 110,562  
Accretion of interest 64,695 64,999 
Payments (284,350) (250,979) 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Total 1,163,719 1,196,993  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
1. Modifications to a lease agreement beyond the original terms and conditions are accounted for as a re-

measurement of the lease liability with a corresponding adjustment to the right of use assets. This is a non-
cash transaction. 
 

2. The additions during the year amounting to US$ 149,961 �µ�����IRU������DQG�86�����������µ�����IRU������
are non-cash transactions. 
 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
The maturity analysis of operating lease liabilities are as follows:   
Current 247,526 238,448  
Non-current 916,193 958,545   

ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
 1,163,719  1,196,993  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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23. Lease liabilities (continued) 
 
The following are the amounts recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income: 
 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets classified as operating 
expense 

84,375 86,204  

Interest expense on lease liabilities (Refer Note 5.3) 43,008 38,021  
Expense relating to short-term leases  23,297 58,120  
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
  150,680 182,345 
 őőőőőőő őőőőőőő 

 
EDO has lease contracts that include extension and termination options. EDO may reconsider and re-evaluate 
whether it will exercise these extension or termination options. These options will be evaluated by management 
to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and align with the business needs. Extension and 
termination options that are subject to future reconsideration are not reflected as part of lease liabilities. Currently, 
there is no exposure to these potential additional payments in excess of the recognised lease liabilities until these 
decisions have been taken by EDO. Management exercises significant judgement in determining whether these 
extension and termination options are reasonably certain to be exercised (refer Note 2). 
 
 
24. National objective investment/ liability  

 
National objective investment 
3'2�HVWDEOLVKHG�WKH�1DWLRQDO�2EMHFWLYH�6FKHPH�LQ������WR�VXSSRUW�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�HIIRUWV�LQ�WKH�2LO�DQG�WKH�
Gas industry. The primary mandate of this program is to create jobs for Omanis and training programs to enhance 
the skills and capabilities of Omanis. 

Ministry of Energy and Minerals (MEM) issued an instruction in January 2020 for transfer of funds accumulated 
under National Objective Fund to National Training Fund (NTF). The National Training Fund (NTF) was 
established by Royal Decree 48/2016, which was issued on 16 October 2016 with the mandate to develop the 
capabilities of the Omani workforce aimed at bridging the gap between Labour market supply and demand. As 
per MEM instruction a total amount of US$ 65������µ���� was transferred to NTF in 2020. 

7KH�EDODQFH�DV�DW����'HFHPEHU������DPRXQWV�WR���������µ���������'HFHPEHU�������86��86�����µ������LV�WR�EH�
utilised towards the National Objective Scheme in due course by PDO.  
 
 
National objective liability  
This represents the PDO's contribution of 1.2% of every contract price towards training programs for Omanis. 
 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
At 1 January 4,537 32,122  
Additional contribution 24,268 38,207  
Utilised during the year - (65,792) 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 28,805 4,537  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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25. Abandonment provision 

 
  

 
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Non-current   
At 1 January 2,198,671 1,606,445  
Additions in provision due to assets acquisition 289,690 183,502  
Reduction in provision due to disposals  (35,952) (34,241) 
Remeasurements and change in estimates 212,143 352,163  
Unwinding of interest cost 143,854 90,802  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2,808,406 2,198,671  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
EDO makes full provision for the future cost of the decommissioning of oil and gas wells and production facilities 
on a discounted basis on the installation of those wells and infrastructure. The abandonment provision represents 
the present value of the abandonment costs relating to oil and gas properties, which are expected to be incurred 
up to 2044 for oil and gas, when the producing oil and gas properties are expected to cease operations. These 
provisions have been created based on EDOs internal estimates. Assumptions based on the current economic 
environment have been made, which management believes form a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the 
future liability. These estimates are reviewed regularly to take into account any material changes to the 
assumptions. The movements in the abandonment provision are due to the change in inputs for the discounting 
factor, the estimated lifetime of clusters and the estimated cost of abandoned wells based on the average expected 
cost of the wells. The key movements resulting in the increase of the estimates for abandonment provision are due 
to the application of Gas Concession Agreement that reduced the cluster life of gas in 2021.  
 

However, actual decommissioning costs will ultimately depend upon the future market prices for the necessary 
decommissioning works required that will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing 
of decommissioning is likely to depend on when the fields cease to produce at economically viable rates. This, in 
turn, will depend upon future oil and gas prices, which are inherently uncertain.  
 
Abandonment cost recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive Income:  
 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Abandonment asset depreciation (Refer Note 11a) 80,185 118,583  
Impact of changes in estimate during the year (10,361) - 
Unwinding of interest cost 143,740 90,802  
Abandonment assets write off (Refer Note 11a) - - 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ  

213,564 209,385  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
The abandonment provision has been estimated using existing technologies at current prices and discounted using 
a discount rate of 6.7% in 2021 and 7.15% in 2020. 

The utilization of the provision in the next twelve months period is not expected to be significant and therefore, 
the entire abandonment provision is classified as non-current liabilities. 
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26. Due to Omani pension scheme  
 
PDO has a separately administered pension scheme for the benefit of its Omani staff. The Omani Staff Pension 
6FKHPH��³WKH�SHQVLRQ�VFKHPH´��LV�D�GHILQHG�EHQHILW�UHWLUHPHQW�VFKHPH��7KH�FRQWULEXWLRQ�E\�2PDQL�VWDII�LV����RI�
their basic salaries plus allowances whilst the contributions made by PDO are 29.3% of their basic salaries plus 
allowances. The last actuarial valuation of the Omani Staff Pension Scheme, performed as at 31 December 2021, 
VKRZHG�WKH�GHVFULEHG�SHQVLRQ�VFKHPH¶V�SRVLWLRQ� 
 
The following tables summarise the components of the pension expense recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income and the funded status and amounts recognised in the balance sheet for the 
pension scheme. 
 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
Return on plan assets (other than net interest) 97,083 39,184  
Actuarial (loss)/gain from changes in financial assumptions (140,278) 169,137 
Actuarial gain/ (loss) from changes in experience adjustments 3,562 (1,144)  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņ 
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income (39,633)   207,177   
Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during the 
year 

(115,771) - 

 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņ 
 (155,404) 207,177   
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
Pension scheme costs 
 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
Current service costs 86,627 102,439  
Net interest expense (25,533) (7,113)  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Total charge 61,094 95,326  
Less: contribution paid by PDO (143,324) (132,406)  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Surplus contribution to Omani staff pension scheme (82,230) (37,080)  

őőőőőő őőőőőő 
 
Statement of financial position ± Net retirement benefit assets/(liabilities) 
 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
Fair value of pension scheme net assets 2,220,932 1,921,533  
Present value of funded obligations  (1,849,600) (1,592,777) 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Net retirement benefit assets 371,332 328,756  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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26. Due to Omani pension scheme (continued) 
 
Movement in fair value of pension scheme assets  

31 Dec 2021 
 

31 Dec 2020 
 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
Opening fair value of scheme 1,921,533 1,673,868  
Interest income 139,631 122,747  
Return on plan assets (other than net interest) 97,083 39,184  
Contribution paid by PDO 143,324 132,406  
Contribution paid by the employees 21,503 20,030  
Benefits paid  (102,142) (66,702) 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Fair value of pension scheme assets  2,220,932 1,921,533  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
Movement in present value of funded obligations 
 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
Opening funded obligations 1,592,777 1,589,369  
Current service costs 86,627 102,439  
Interest costs 114,098 115,634  
Past service 21  
Re-measurement loss/(gain):    
- Actuarial loss/(gain) from changes in financial assumptions 140,278 (169,137) 
- Actuarial (gain)/loss from change in experience adjustment (3,562) 1,144  
Benefit paid (102,142) (66,702) 
Contribution paid by the employees 21,503 20,030  
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
Present value of funded obligations 1,849,600 1,592,777  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
The principal assumptions used in determining the pension scheme obligations are shown below:  
 

  
2021 

 
2020 

 % % 
Discount rate at 31 December  6.70% 7.15% 
Inflation rate 2.00% 2.00% 
Expected rate of return on assets 6.70% 7.15% 
Future salary increases 3.00% 3.00% 
Future pension increases 0.00% 0.00% 
Mortality rate 59% of ELT13* 

improving to 50% in 
18 years 

60% of ELT13* 
improving to 50% 

in 19 years 
 

(QJOLVK�/LIH�7DEOH�1R�����³(/7���´��UHIOHFWV�WKH�DVVXPHG�PRUWDOLW\�RI�2PDQLV�FRYHUHG�E\�the Public Authority 
RI�6RFLDO�,QVXUDQFH��³3$6,´�� 
 
Salary risk 
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to future salaries of the plan 
participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will LQFUHDVH� WKH� SODQ¶V� OLDELOLW\� The 
sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on a set of reasonably possible changes of the respective 
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting periods, while holding all other assumptions constant. 
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26. Due to Omani pension scheme (continued) 
  
Change in defined benefit obligation 2021 2020 
 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease 
 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
     
Discount rate (1% movement) (335,200) 309,600 (256,800)   292,800 
Future salary growth (1% movement) 152,400 (139,200) 126,000 (115,200) 
 
Restructuring of Oman pension and social protection system 
In April 2021, Royal Decree 33/2021 was issued, in which the subject of integration of pension funds was 
addressed. The decree stipulated that all local pension funds be merged into two funds, one concerned with civil 
funds and the other with military and security funds. The PDO pension fund, in cooperation with all relevant 
authorities and stakeholders, is currently assessing the potential impacts of the Royal Decree on the PDO¶V�
pension fund and on the Company in general. 
 
27. Provision for staff end-of-service and other retirement benefits  
 
The defined contribution pension schemes to which seconded staff contribute are funded by payments to trusts, 
ZKLFK�DUH�DGPLQLVWHUHG�LQGHSHQGHQWO\�RI�3'2��3'2¶V�REOLJDWLRQV�DUH�OLPLWHG�WR�WKHVH�FRQWULEXWLRQV��ZKLFK�DUH�
expensed when due. 

Provision for Omani end-of-service benefits represents amounts due to Omani staff who are not members of the 
Omani pension scheme and who have contracts that provide for the payment of end-of-service benefits upon 
termination or expiration of their employment contracts. Provision for non-Omani end-of-service benefits 
represents amounts due to non-Omani staff who are not members of any pension scheme and who have contracts 
that provide for the payment of end-of-service benefits upon termination or expiration of their employment 
contracts.  

Following are the balances of Non-Omani and other staff pension provisions: 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   

Provision for Omani staff voluntary enhanced early retirement scheme 13,493 17,720 
Provision for Omani staff early enhanced retirements (Not under 
Omani Pension Fund) 

155 372 

Provision for non-Omani staff end-of-service benefits 2,066 2,327 
Provision for Omani staff end-of-service benefits (Not under Omani 
Pension Fund) 

749 714 

 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
 16,463 21,133 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
3'2¶V�REOLJDWLRQV�DUH�OLPLWHG�WR�WKHVH�FRQWULEXWLRQV��ZKLFK�DUH�H[SHQVHG�ZKHQ�GXH��7KH�WDEOHV�EHORZ�SURYLGH�
details of the provisions created (and utilised) during the year 

Provision for Omani staff voluntary enhanced early retirement scheme 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
At 1 January 17,720 - 
Provision made during the year - 17,720  
Paid during the year  (4,227) - 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 13,493 17,720 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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27. Provision for staff end-of-service and other retirement benefits (continued) 
 

Provision for Omani staff early enhanced retirements (Not under Omani Pension Fund) 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   
At 1 January 372 652  
Provision made during the year 23 17  
Paid during the year  (240) (297) 
 ņņņņņņ ņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 155 372 
 
 

őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
 
3'2�SURYLGHV�IRU�HPSOR\HH�HDUO\�UHWLUHPHQW�FRVWV�EDVHG�RQ�D�VFKHPH�DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�3'2¶V�PDQDJHPHQW��$�
significant proportion of the provision is not expected to be utilised within the next one year. 
 
Provision for Non-Omani staff terminal benefits  

31 Dec 2021 
 

31 Dec 2020 
 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 

   
At 1 January 2,327 2,554  
Provision made during the year 3,839 4,415  
Paid during the year  (4,100) (4,642) 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 2,066 2,327  

 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
 
Provision for Omani staff terminal benefits (Not under Omani Pension Fund) 
 

  
31 Dec 2021 

 
31 Dec 2020 

 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   

At 1 January 714 657  
Provision made during the year 310 331  
Paid during the year  (275) (274) 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
At 31 December 749 714  

 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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28. Assets held for sale 

During 2019, the Gas Operations entered into a draft agreement with Shell Integrated Gas Oman BV and Total 
E&P Oman Development BV ("Shell & Total") wherein Shell & Total (once the agreement is signed) would be 
the operator of Mabrouk North East (Area 1 and Area 2) (together the 'concession area'). Shell & Total requires 
the Gas Operations to design, develop and execute services related to its operations in the concession area. Based 
on this arrangement, at reporting date, Mabrouk North East assets having value of USD 726 million (2020: USD 
463 million) are recognised in accordance with IFRS 5 as Assets held for sale. The total funding of USD 726 
million (2020: USD 463 million) by Shell and Total is recognised as liabilities associated with assets held for sale 
(Mabrouk North East).  

('2¶V�LQWHUHVW�DQG�ULJKWV�LQ�WKH�H[SORUDWLRQ�DQG�H[SORLWDWLRQ�RI�1$*�DQG�1$*�FRQGHQVDWH�LQ�WKH�%ORFN����DUHD�
will be relinquished effective from the ratification by Royal Decree of the concession agreement that was signed 
by the Government and Shell, along with its partners, OQ and Marsa Liquefied Natural Gas LLC (a joint venture 
between Total and OQ) on 21 December 2021. The related assets and liabilities will be removed from the financial 
statements upon ratification of the Royal Decree, which is expected to happen in 2022. 
 
 
Assets held for sale (Mabrouk North East):   
   

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 86�¶��� 86�¶��� 
   

Gross Block: Exploration and evaluation assets  736,872 499,080 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,127) (846) 
 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Net Block: Exploration and evaluation assets 735,745 498,234 
Cash at bank 38,400 582 
Well Advance Stok - 2,054 
Receivables 2,513 - 
Payables (46,470) (36,571) 
Due to a related party (5,329) (1,767) 

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
 724,859 462,532 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
   
   

Labilities associated with assets held for sale   
   
Funds from Mabrouk North East participants  725,986 492,194 
Depreciation on Mabrouk North East assets (1,127) (846) 

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
 724,859 491,348 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 

EDO operates internationally but has limited exposure to financial risks. The financial risks that could adversely 
affect EDO¶s financial assets, liabilities or future cash flows are market risk (including commodity price risk, 
interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. 

 

Market risk - The risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. 

Market risk comprises three types of risk: commodity price risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.  

Commodity price risk 
The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
commodity prices. EDO is exposed to the risk of fluctuations in prevailing market commodity prices on the mix 
of crude oil and NAG products it produces. EDO does not hedge the risk, as there is no active risk management. 

Commodity price sensitivity 
Based on the assumption that the crude oil price moves +/- 20% this would result in a change of US$ 13/bbl. for 
the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: US$ 9/bbl.), with a consequent change in profit of US$ 
218,045 �µ�����for the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: US$ 1,167,319 �µ�������ZKHUH�DOO�RWKHU�
variables are held constant.  
 
Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market LQWHUHVW�UDWHV��7KH�&RPSDQ\¶V�H[SRVXUH�WR�WKH�ULVN�RI�FKDQJHV�LQ�PDUNHW�LQWHUHVW�UDWHV�UHODWHV�
SULPDULO\�WR�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�WHUP�ORDQ�REOLJDWLRQV�ZLWK�IORDWLQJ�LQWHUHVW�UDWHV� 
 
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for instruments at the 
reporting date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding 
at the reporting date was outstanding for the whole year. A 50-basis point increase or decrease is used when 
UHSRUWLQJ�LQWHUHVW�UDWH�ULVN�LQWHUQDOO\�WR�NH\�PDQDJHPHQW�SHUVRQQHO�DQG�UHSUHVHQWV�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�DVVHVVPHQW�RI�
the reasonably possible change in interest rates. 
  
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Company¶V�profit before tax for the period (through the impact on floating rate 
borrowings rates). There is no direct impact on the Company¶V�HTXLW\� 
 

 
There is no effect on profit before tax for the year ended 31 December 2020, as there was no outstanding term 
loan as of 31 December 2020.  

Foreign currency risk 
Currency risk in respect of EDO is mitigated significantly via a policy of awarding contracts and purchase 
orders mainly in US$ or Omani Rials only. The Omani Rial is effectively pegged to the US$. Only in 
exceptional cases, based on a commercial evaluation, are contracts/purchase orders awarded denominated in 
other currencies and therefore are not considered to have significant impact on EDO. 
 
 
 
 
 

31 December 2021 Increase/Decrease 
in basis points 

Effect on profit 
before tax  

US$ 000 
   
 +50 (1,697)  
 -50  1,697  
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)  

Credit risk - Credit risk is the risk that counterparties might not fulfil their contractual payment obligations 
towards an entity. 

EDO is exposed to credit risk in respect of its trade and other receivables, housing loans, due from related parties 
and bank balances. Credit risk is controlled as balances are regularly reviewed and, where necessary an 
appropriate recovery action is taken. The expected credit loss model is applied for recognition and measurement 
of impairments in financial assets measured at amortised cost. Such credit losses have historically been nominal 
and the loss allowance for trade and other receivables, housing loans, due from related parties is presented in Note 
13, Note 16 and Note 20 respectively. Other financial assets consist of cash and cash at bank held with leading 
and reputed banks. (Refer Note 12). 

The expected credit loss in 2021 is US$ 1,362 �µ������������86���������µ�������ZKLFK�UHSUHVHQWV�0.09% (2020: 
0.18%-0.23%) of all trade receivables and related parties on account of crude oil and NAG sales. The decrease 
compared with prior year is mainly due to changes in the macroeconomic environment. 

Liquidity risk ± This is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities. Management regularly monitors future liquidity requirements. Trade payables are normally 
settled within 30 to 45 days of receipt of invoice based on the contractual terms. The table below summarises the 
maturities of EDO¶s undiscounted financial liabilities at each reporting date, based on contractual payment dates. 

 
 Up to one year  Total 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
31 December 2021    
   
Trade payables 306,690 306,690 
Accrued expenses 585,354 585,354 
Other payables 645,865 645,865 
Due to related parties 95,816 95,816 
   
   
31 December 2020 

  

   
Trade payables 398,752  398,752  
Accrued expenses 520,990 520,990 
Other payables 122,463 122,463 
Due to related parties 126,466 126,466 
   

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities 
  

 
 

Up to one 
year 

 
 
 

1-5 years 

 
 

More than 5 
years 

 
Total 

contractual  
cash flows 

 
 

Carrying 
amount 

 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 
      
Term loan      
At 31 Dec 2021 78,759 1,756,518 1,068,705   2,903,982   2,468,454  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
At 31 Dec 2020 -  -  - - - 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
Lease liabilities      
At 31 Dec 2021 254,522  730,015  529,862  1,514,399  1,163,719  
 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
At 31 Dec 2020 244,822  719,729  616,747  1,581,298  1,196,993 
 őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő őőőőőő 
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30. Capital Commitments 
 
 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000 
   
Future capital expenditure authorised by the Board of Directors of 
PDO and Gas Operations 

  
18,351,430 18,203,680 

 őőőőőő őőőőőő 
 
 
Supply of crude oil barrels to the Government 
 
The Government has raised a loan of US$ 4 billion in the form of a Pre-Export Facility (PXF) through Yibal 
Export B.V. The facility was structured as a pre-H[SRUW� ILQDQFLQJ� �³3;)´���8QGHU� WKH� )LVFDO� 3URWRFRO�� ('2�
transfers to the Government such barrels of Petroleum as may be required and notified by the Government to 
SHUIRUP�LWV�REOLJDWLRQV�XQGHU�D�)RUZDUG�6DOH�$UUDQJHPHQW��µ)6$�%DUUHOV¶��WR�VDWLVI\�WKH�UHTXLUHPHQWV�XQGHU�WKH�
PXF. These FSA barrels are transferred at free of chargH�DQG�RQ�D�µILUVW�SULRULW\�EDVLV¶��WKDW�LV��IURP�WKH�ILUVW�EDUUHOV�
of Petroleum. The Government has the ownership rights of these FSA Barrels and is entitled to dispose of these 
EDUUHOV��('2¶V�REOLJDWLRQV�WR�WUDQVIHU�WKHVH�)6$�%DUUHOV�WR�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�VKDll at all times take priority over 
other obligations. (Refer Note 21) 
 
31. Income tax 

('2¶V�REOLJDWLRQ�WR�SD\�FXUUHQW�WD[�LV�GHILQHG�LQ�WKH�)LVFDO�3URWRFRO�DQG�VKDOO�EH�UHFXUULQJ�LQ�QDWXUH��EDO is 
liable to pay tax at an amount equal to fifty-five percent (55%) of its income chargeable to tax from 24 February 
2021 to 31 December 2021 for oil operations and from 06 May 2021 to 31 December 2021 for NAG & condensate 
operations.  

Since, the taxes are applicable only from the current year there is an opening non-deductible element arising on 
account of difference between accounting base (IFRS) and continuing tax base (as per concession agreement) of 
depreciation on property, plant, and equipment. EDO has availed the initial recognition exception under IAS 12 
- µ,QFRPH�7D[HV¶. Accordingly, going forward the effective tax rate is expected to be significantly higher than the 
tax rate of 55% due to non-deductible element on initial recognition 

The major components of income tax expense in the statement of profit or loss: 

 
Tax liability amounting to US$ 82,081 �µ�����is payable as of 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: nil). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 
 

US$ 000 US$ 000 
Income taxes   
Current income tax expense  (1,059,335) - 
Deferred income tax expense relating to origination and reversal of 
temporary: 

  

Deferred tax asset  2,184,667  - 
Deferred tax liabilities (2,544,225) - 

 ņņņņņņņ ņņņņņņņ 
Income tax expense recognised in statement of profit or loss  (1,418,893)  - 
 őőőőőőőő őőőőőőőő 
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31. Income tax (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of income tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by the domestic tax rate for 2021: 
 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000    
Profit before tax 4,059,772 -  
   
Income tax  2,232,876 - 
Tax impact of non-deductible expenses and tax-exempt revenue (1,173,541) - 
Deferred tax liability 359,558 - 
            ņņņņņ            ņņņņņ������������������������������� 

 
1,418,893 - 

 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during in the year 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000    
Re-measurement of pension fund obligation   (115,771) - 
   
           ņņņņņ                 ņņņņņ 
Deferred tax liability recognised in OCI during in the year   (115,771) - 

 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax relates to the following: 
 

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 
 US$ 000 US$ 000    
Property, plant and equipment  (1,211,727) - 
Abandonment asset    (644,085) - 
Abandonment provision  1,544,623  - 
Right of use asset   (599,952) - 
Lease liability  640,045  - 
Net retirement benefit assets   (88,462) - 
                 ņņņņņ                 ņņņņņ 
Net Deferred tax liability (359,558) - 

 őőőőőő őőőőőő 

 
  



Energy Development Oman SAOC  
Financial statements 

31 December 2021 
 
Notes to the financial statements of the Energy Development Oman SAOC (continued) 
 

70 | P a g e  
 

 
32. New standards, interpretations and amendments issued but not yet effective  

7KH�QHZ�DQG�DPHQGHG�VWDQGDUGV�WKDW�DUH�LVVXHG��EXW�QRW�\HW�HIIHFWLYH��XS�WR�WKH�GDWH�RI�LVVXDQFH�RI�('2¶V�ILQDQFLDO�
statements are disclosed below. EDO intend to adopt these new and amended standards, if applicable, when they 
become effective 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts  

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new accounting standard 
for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 
17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4) that was issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of 
insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that 
issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation features. A 
few scope exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance 
contracts that is more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are 
largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive model for 
insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. 

The core of IFRS 17 is the general model, supplemented by: 
- A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)  
- A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts  

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with comparative figures required. 
Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the date it first 
applies IFRS 17. This standard is not applicable to the Company.    

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current  

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for 
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify: 
- What is meant by a right to defer settlement  
- That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period  
- That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right  
- That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms 

of a liability not impact its classification. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be 
applied retrospectively. The Company is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on the existing term 
loan arrangements. 

Reference to the Conceptual Framework ± Amendments to IFRS 3 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to the Conceptual 
Framework. The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.  

7KH�%RDUG�DOVR�DGGHG�DQ�H[FHSWLRQ�WR�WKH�UHFRJQLWLRQ�SULQFLSOH�RI�,)56���WR�DYRLG�WKH�LVVXH�RI�SRWHQWLDO�µGD\��¶�
gains or losses arising for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 
21 Levies, if incurred separately.  

At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in IFRS 3 for contingent assets that would not 
be affected by replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements. 7KLV�DPHQGPHQW�LV�QRW�H[SHFWHG�WR�KDYH�PDWHULDO�LPSDFW�RQ�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�� 
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32. New standards, interpretations and amendments issued but not yet effective (continued) 

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use ± Amendments to IAS 16  

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment ² Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits 
entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items 
produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs 
of producing those items, in profit or loss. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be applied 
retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of the 
earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment. The amendments are not expected to have 
a material impact on the Company¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�     

Onerous Contracts ± Costs of Fulfilling a Contract ± Amendments to IAS 37  

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37 to specify which costs an entity needs to include when 
assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-PDNLQJ��7KH�DPHQGPHQWV�DSSO\�D�³GLUHFWO\�UHODWHG�FRVW�DSSURDFK´��
The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services include both incremental costs and an 
allocation of costs directly related to contract activities General and administrative costs do not relate directly to 
a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.  

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The Company 
will apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of 
the annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments. The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of these amendments.  

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current  

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards ± Subsidiary as a first-time 
adopter  

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process, the IASB issued an amendment to 
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The amendment permits a subsidiary 
that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts 
UHSRUWHG�E\�WKH�SDUHQW��EDVHG�RQ�WKH�SDUHQW¶V�GDWH�RI�WUDQVLWLRQ�WR�,)56��7KLV�DPHQGPHQW�LV�DOVR�DSSOied to an 
associate or joint venture that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1.  

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier 
adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact of these amendments.  

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments ± )HHV�LQ�WKH�¶���SHU�FHQW¶�WHVW�IRU�GHUHFRJQLWLRQ�RI�ILQDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV� 

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IFRS 
9. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified 
financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees include 
only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the 
ERUURZHU�RU�OHQGHU�RQ�WKH�RWKHU¶V�EHKDOI��$Q�HQWLW\�DSSOLHV�WKH�DPHQGPHQW�WR�ILQDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV�WKDW�DUH�PRGLILHG�
or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the 
amendment. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier 
adoption permitted. The Company will apply the amendments to financial liabilities that are modified or 
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment. 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company. This amendment is not expected 
to have material impact on the CRPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV. 
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32. New standards, interpretations and amendments issued but not yet effective (continued) 

Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8 

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it LQWURGXFHV� D� GHILQLWLRQ�RI� µDFFRXQWLQJ�
HVWLPDWHV¶�� 7KH� DPHQGPHQWV� FODULI\� WKH� GLVWLQFWLRQ� EHWZHHQ� FKDQJHV� LQ� DFFRXQWLQJ� HVWLPDWHV� DQG� FKDQJHV� LQ�
accounting policies and the correction of errors. "     

Also, they clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The 
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes 
in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier 
application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. The amendments are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Company. 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality 
Judgements, in which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to 
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that 
DUH�PRUH�XVHIXO�E\�UHSODFLQJ�WKH�UHTXLUHPHQW�IRU�HQWLWLHV�WR�GLVFORVH�WKHLU�µVLJQLILFDQW¶�DFFRXQWLQJ�SROLFLHV�ZLWK�D�
UHTXLUHPHQW�WR�GLVFORVH�WKHLU�µPDWHULDO¶�DFFRXQWLQJ�SROLFLHV�DQG�DGGLQJ�JXLGDQce on how entities apply the concept 
of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.  

The amendments to IAS 1 are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier 
application permitted. Since the amendments to the Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on the 
application of the definition of material to accounting policy information, an effective date for these amendments 
is not necessary. The Company is currently assessing the impact of these amendments. 

The management is currently assessing the impact of adopting the above standards and amendments on the 
Company¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�LQ�WKH�SHULRG�RI�WKHLU�LQLWLDO�DSSOLFDWLRQ��7KH�Company intends to adopt these 
standards, if applicable, when they become effective. 
     

33. Approval of financial statements 

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 March 2022 and 
are signed on their behalf by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of Energy Development 
Oman SAOC on 15 March 2022. 


